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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man
BEEEX
(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

N/ <

Jiangxi Lee & Man
L P 3 X
(Jiujiang, 71.5T)
Guangdong Lee & Man w
BRE X
(Hongmei, 3t #§) .

Dongguan Lee & Man
8 REEX

(Huangyong, % 5%)

B3 A 3 3 AR

PRODUCTS =

Kraft Linerboard AT AR
Test Linerboard A AR

Vietham Lee & Man .
IR 4

R Coated Duplex Board 2B R

(Hau Giang, /5 5T) White Top Linerboard B T 41 4R

'r High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLA%S 5 4%
Pulp AN
Tissue Paper B
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Guangdong Lee & Man
BREX

2.30 million tons of

paper
230 & WA 4%

Annual production
capacity:

Dongguan Lee & Man
REEX
Annual production
capacity:

FERE

590,000 tons of
paper
59 & I 4%

Chongqing Lee & Man
BEEEX

Annual production 900,000 tons of paper,

180,000 tons of pulp and
355,000 tons of tissue paper
& WA - 18E WA
K2 35.5 & A {87 4 4%

capacity:

FER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
LRI X

Annual production
capacity:

1.12 million tons of

paper
112 8 WA 4K

Jiangxi Lee & Man
IFEEX
Annual production
capacity:

FER :

320,000 tons of
paper
32 B MAAK

Vietnam Lee & Man

MR E X

Annual production
capacity:
FER

400,000 tons of

paper
408 I8 4%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

4 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report

EEE

HITES

TN BB Twengs xrmt(FE)
R Esrns(HEHNTE)
TREBRE

FHITES

BERAERE exEs AT+
BIHEHITES

TRIRLEE

Peter A. Davies%t 4=

Bk S A

EREEE
FAREE(EE)

RIS

Peter A. Davies%t &£
FMEEE

K (£ )
TRIRGCAE
Peter A. Daviesst 4

REZEEE

FXEEtrenes cvmt(EE)
ERK L E

FRUR £

Peter A. Daviesst 4

RERR

TN BB Tosnes cFmt
ok Bo8 A&

NEAWE

KRB A




CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE TSR

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O.Box 2681 P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE BMER

5th Floor, Liven House 578

61-63 King Yip Street b E&Ef%

Kwun Tong WEA61-635%

Kowloon %Ji&ﬂ‘%ﬁ

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEARRT

In Hong Kong and Macau: BB RORM

Hang Seng Bank BEARIT

Standard Chartered Bank BITIRAT

Citibank, N.A. TEPRIRTT

HSBC EZRTT

DBS ERIRAT

Bank of China (Hong Kong) EF'I?ETT(E/%)

In the PRC: hE

China Construction Bank B R RTT

Bank of China REIRIT

Agricultural Bank of China PR ERT

AUDITOR B ELED

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu BE « BERS &aHAITT

Certified Public Accountants HEEIAD

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERMBFPERZE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House, 4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town 24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110 Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EBROBFPFETDE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited BEEBRFELARAA

Level 22 Hopewell Centre BA

183 Queen’s Road East SRERNER183%

Hong Kong G022

WEBSITE 3k

http://www.leemanpaper.com http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue

WA

HK$ million
BEET
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
BZ12A31H BE
IE9fH A 12A318ILEE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx TET THT TET
RESULTS %5&
Revenue WA 11,423,998 16,970,365 17,099,134 17,615,641 18,341,677
Profit before tax B& 54 BT 22 7 1,498,116 2,192,471 2,208,930 2,750,162 3,354,017
Income tax expense FIEHTH (177,098) (244,268) (304,536) (418,487) (491,274)
Profit for the year/period EE/HRERN 1,321,018 1,948,203 1,904,394 2,331,675 2,862,743
At 31 December
®12A318
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT FTHT THL TR
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ ¥ER&fE
Total assets BEE 27,608,776 31,194,706 34,736,820 35,599,063 35,000,266
Total liabilities waE (13,010,586) (14,848,220) (17,259,836) (18,362,876) (18,177,301)
Net assets BEFE 14,598,190 16,346,486 17,476,984 17,236,187 16,822,965

BGERER AR 2016 F£3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recorded a total
sales volume of 5.63 million tons and total revenue of HK$18.34
billion. Its annual net profit strongly increased by 22.7% year-on-year
to HK$2.86 billion, while its net profit per ton was HK$508.

The Chinese government'’s efforts to eliminate obsolete production
facilities while embarking on environmentally-friendly policies has
gradually reduced overcapacity in the industry over the last year. The
recovery in demand within the paper industry has also notably
improved the demand and supply situation within the industry. The
price of paper has increased in recent months as a result of the surge
in energy, raw materials and transportation costs. The higher demand
plus the value-added tax refund policy have enabled the Group to
achieve growth in both sales revenue and profit despite the
depreciation of the Renminbi.

The Group will expand into overseas packaging paper markets and
invest in the construction of overseas paper factories to keep pace
with the expansion of the Southeast Asian markets. It is expected
that the paper machine project in Hau Giang, Vietnam with an
annual production capacity of 400,000 tons will begin operation in
March this year. As the overseas packaging paper market offers
enormous potential, the Group may invest more resources in this
sector. The PM21 paper machine with an annual production volume
of 400,000 tons at the Jiangxi plant is also under construction and
will begin operation in August this year. Upon commencing full
production, the annual production capacity of the Group’s packaging

paper will exceed 6 million tons.

In order to address the overcapacity and the environmental issues in
the paper industry, obsolete production capacities have steadily been
eliminated in China as approval standards for new production
capacities have become more stringent in recent years. Local
government authorities intend to impose more stringent
environmental monitoring policies and implement stricter
requirements on environmental protection, which will lead to
shutting down even more obsolete production capacities which fail

to measure up to environmental standards. Despite the slowdown in

8 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

the economic growth of the Mainland economy, the demand for
packaging paper in China is expected to grow steadily in the long
run. In addition, the rapid development of e-commerce and online
shopping has led to fundamental changes in consumption and
logistics models, benefitting the packaging paper industry which is
currently undergoing consolidation. Looking ahead, overall paper
consumption still possesses considerable room for growth, thus the
Group is optimistic about the outlook of both the packaging paper

segment and the paper industry as a whole.

As for the tissue paper business, the eight tissue paper manufacturing
machines with a total annual production volume of 355,000 tons
located in the Chongging Industrial Park have commenced full
production since last year. The Group will be able to further reduce
the production cost of tissue paper through economies of scale
leveraging the increase in production volume and utilising its pulp
production facilities in Chongging. The Group will also expand tissue
paper business in Jiangxi, Guangdong and Chongging Provinces.
Another six new production lines with a combined annual production
capacity of 330,000 tons will commence production within this year.
After all of the production lines ramp up operation, the Group’s
annual production capacity for tissue paper will reach 685,000 tons.
The tissue paper business is therefore expected to contribute a
considerable profit to the Group as it becomes another new growth
driver in the future.

Adhering to its long-held prudent strategies and with debts
maintained at a reasonable level, the Group will monitor the pace of
economic development while it continues to bolster the production
capacity in packaging and tissue paper. The management will
proceed with efforts to enhance production efficiencies, strictly
control costs and strengthen capital operation in order to maintain
the Group’s competitiveness in the paper industry. The experienced
and capable management team will continue to lead the
development of the Group’s businesses and exert its best efforts to

raise profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2016 was HK$18.34 billion and
HK$2.86 billion respectively.

As a result of the recovery in demand within the paper industry, the
Group maintained a steady growth in sales volume of the products
to 5.63 million tons for the year and the average net profit per ton of
the products achieved at about HK$508 for the year.

The earnings per share for the year was HK62.64 cents when
compared with HK50.43 cents for the year ended 31 December
2015.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$252 million for
the year ended 31 December 2016 as compared to HK$318 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015. It represented about 1.4% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016 and was
decreased as compared to about 1.8% for the year ended 31
December 2015. This was mainly due to more customers were to
pick up the finished goods by themselves instead of delivery by the
Group.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$875 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016 as compared to HK$752
million for the year ended 31 December 2015. It represented about
4.8% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016 and was
increased as compared to that of 4.3% for the year ended 31
December 2015. The increase was mainly due to the result of the

expansion of the Group during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$346 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 as
compared to HK$303 million for the year ended 31 December 2015.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in average amount of
outstanding bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 85 days and 3 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2016 as compared to 78 days and 12 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2015. This exhibits strong demand

from our customers.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 42 days for the year ended
31 December 2016 as compared to 50 days for the year ended 31
December 2015. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 90

days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 80 days for the year ended
31 December 2016 as compared to 70 days for the year ended 31
December 2015. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to
improve going forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in

light of the industry consolidation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2016
was HK$16,823 million (2015: HK$17,236 million). As at 31
December 2016, the Group had current assets of HK$9,193 million
(2015: HK$ 11,042 million) and current liabilities of HK$7,964 million
(2015: HK$8,449 million). The current ratio was 1.15 as at 31
December 2016 as compared to 1.31 at 31 December 2015.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2016, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$13,547 million
(2015: HK$14,262 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2016, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$1,274 million (2015: HK$2,959 million).
The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased from 0.66
as at 31 December 2015 to 0.73 as at 31 December 2016 as a result
of the increase in capital expenditure during the year, and if excluded
the decrease of translation reserve of HK$2,142 million as a result of
Renminbi depreciation, the net debt-to-equity ratio should have been
0.65.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2016.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a workforce of about 6,900
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhRE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Director shave proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2016. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of

the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond s8s jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas sp

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of three executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES  EE2ABEHRLE
Tttux% ERRZHEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABRETEES 0%
RN RS EREIE ©

T EFABRER
BEEHERN  —ExERRERABY
XU RERRA 2 ARERMANEETEE
% BENSREBTERA BN
REEEEW - FTHER -

ExelhEFZ Rz eRLEmEEE
BIREZWERE  MAEERVERED
BIE =& XXM RAARE F SFoE s 12 i
RWEH  FERGURNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FRN CHARZRESZSSE  SEEY
FIERFHIIMT -

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss EXERELwenes cFHt 6/7
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH =Gt T L 7117
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PR E 6/7
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas J ERN B exmEs x vt 6/7
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRRESE 7/7
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies’t A& 6/7
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David JEEK A 717
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BUZEEEHNEARIZERESLE
A 2ERBMARER ZABEIN - K
BRZEFHARA 2 EBNEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN LA KA
MEERE NZBEERER -

Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

EEMREREERLETHAANS MB L
AR/ ARBELER - TRHRIIEE
ER016F BV EELTARAESTZ
AR BERBECHEEXEREZ
S BT o

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2016 is recorded in the table below.

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 88
MEEERTE ShRBBEY
Name of director EEpg BHER mHE B
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs s EXBIE Lrgnes T4+
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH BB K Epmns
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FERE
Non-executive director kBTES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong 685 Jp BRIBR 24028 AFM1 v v
Independent non-executive directors BIUFHITESE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRELE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies5t 4
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BERK &
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016.

During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Number of attendance

Name of member REHA R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AEK ST E 4/4
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUELSE a/4
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest 4 3/4

18 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the

current members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the
Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting.

FMEES

HEZ B S R2005F /K7
17

HEKE R

FEK T E(EE)
TR A
Peter A. Daviesst 4

FHMEZE R EMTRIAIKZB.1.2(0)
(il MEFEeRAEEEERAREE
BZHM s BRBUR REBIELER - &
MEESHRBEESHHEMNBHEAR
MEFTERNGZHM - BFETRNIEX -
FHEZEemBERECR201243A28
BEMENEN  YEFHRAQTHE
A e

EEERNTEEZHEN  FHEZES
DEBEERAE  BRAXHDKT &
EEMCBRILERE  SERNHE
RSN RERBBB M

YWz EeTHFNeNETEF 2 MR
BRFEATEERETEREEEZR
B FRNAREHR X FAKEHBEL

EEER

BYGERARAT 2016 F3 19



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond s8sJp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the

independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held

during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Board diversity

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company'’s business model and specific needs.
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The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it
considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Lee Man Bun, Mr.
Peter A. Davies and Mr. Chau Shing Yim David, shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

RRBIFRE - ZTUCBERE R B T RE
HAEER HRAEEGUELERS
KFEEXEREMER - ARAIFHEER
EARRRMAZTEHARBR R £HR
REFERERRIILHER  #EAERA
EFEemZ LK

RIFEBERAR - FOHLE - Peter
A. Davies5t A4 Jo JE A A 58 A S 70 B T AR
BERELHESR  ENEGERLEERE
BIEEML -

RERECEBRENZTEENARR]E
ERRBEFAG LBEREEZESE -

SIS A% BB

AEE2016F12A31HIEEE » AR
AILEHMEARTERENERNIFEER
BRARNRINEZ AN ENNE R
T

HK$'000

FHET

Audit Services BEZ R 6,486
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FEEZRE (BIEREEE -

review and other reporting services) ER N EMEBRRE) 1,595

8,081

BYGERARAT 2016 F3 21



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks
considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management's review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“"SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires

equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website

of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company'’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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BRI -HERE

FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2016

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man”, the “Group” or "We")
has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance Report (this
“Report”) in accordance with the requirements of Appendix 27
(Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide) of the Main
Board Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) in order that stakeholders can better understand
the policies and measures we have adopted and our performance in
respect of environmental protection, social responsibilities and

corporate governance.

This Report covers the Group's primary operations relating to the
production of packaging paper, pulp and tissue paper in China from
1 January to 31 December 2016 (the “Reporting Period”). As the
new plant of the Group in Vietnam had not formally started its
production operations during the Reporting Period, it is not included

in this Report.

Our Board of Directors were responsible for supervising the
environmental, social and governance strategies, policies and
measures adopted by us whilst the management was responsible for
their execution to ensure proper risk management and the
effectiveness of our internal control system in these areas, which

would help to promote our sustainable development.
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In order that the contents and disclosures of this Report could meet
the expectations of stakeholders, we have engaged the management
and employees of our various departments to participate in preparing
this Report. We have prepared this Report with the following subject
areas after conducting a review of the Group’s operations, the
related environmental, social and governance issues and an analysis

of the importance of such issues to stakeholders:
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Subject Areas Required under Stock Exchange’s Material Environmental, Social and

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Governance Aspects of the Group

Air emissions
Sewage discharges
Wastes

ST B e
EIRBEL
REEY)

Energy consumption
Water consumption
BERFEE
R E A

Timber logging
Noises

MRARIR K

BE

Recruitment, promotion and compensation
Employees’ welfare

Equal opportunities

Other employment practices
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A. B

A1. Emissions o
o
o

Al B .
o
o

A2. Use of resources °
o

A2. BRI g
o
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Subject Areas Required under Stock Exchange’s Material Environmental, Social and
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Governance Aspects of the Group

BRXARE  dERERREESIHE FEEEENRE  HERERER

B2. Health and safety e Workplace health and safety
B2. f@REE o IERRLTHER
B3. Development and training e Internal training
e External training
B3. R K&IFI o AMELEHI
o HMEREEFI
B4. Labour standards ¢ Prohibition of child and forced labour
B4. & T %R e MIEETRAFET

B5.
B5.

B6.

Supply chain management

HrEEE IR

Product responsibility

Procurement of raw materials

R R

Product safety
After-sale services
Data Privacy

B6. EmEE s EmTE
o ERIRTE
. ERRE
B7. Anti-corruption e Anti-bribery and anti-money laundering
B7. R&ES o [IIEBRAR RE R
B8. Community investment e Community development

Environmental protection
Support for the under-privileged

B8. tt@mKE o MEmER
o REFRHE
o [EXIE
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

As the Chinese Government has placed high importance on
environmental protection in recent years aiming at sustainable
development along with economic growth, the standards laid
down for emissions have been considerably tightened. Being
well aware that environmental protection is the most important
basis for our development, the Group has adopted a number
of improvement and monitoring measures to ensure
performance of our environmental responsibilities. As part of
the various efforts to make us one of the companies which best
comply environmental protection principles in the world, our
different plants have employed the most efficient technologies
to enable us to satisfy the newest emission standards laid down
by the government as well as internationally applicable
environmental management standards. To ensure effective
implementation of the measures, our management has set up
an environmental team led by the Chief Executive Officer with
members having the relevant expertise. The team has held
internal control meetings regularly to review environmental
issues in the plants, to update themselves with applicable
environmental laws and regulations and to give advice on any
necessary improvements. Going forward, the team will engage
themselves more on environmental protection measures to be
taken in production processes, principally including those
employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water
and air emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring
emissions to ensure continued compliance with high
environmental protection standards.

The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection, including the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Air Pollution, and the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution Due to Solid Wastes. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not find anything which
constituted a breach of relevant environmental protection laws
and regulations.
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Air Emissions

To ensure enough power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had
their own thermal power stations operating coal-fired
generators and therefore, there have been gas emissions
including nitrogen oxides and sulphur oxides. The Group has
made efforts to reduce emissions at the source by always being
energy-saving and lowering air emissions by cutting coal
consumption. Environmental-friendly circulating fluidised bed
boilers used in our thermal power stations can achieve efficient
combustion of all kinds of coal. As the combustion temperature
in this kind of boilers is lower than that in pulverised coal
boilers, less nitrogen oxides would be generated. Moreover, in
each coal-fired power stations of the Group, the most
advanced air emissions treatment facilities have been used,
including the employment of highly efficient bag filters to
reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR de-nitration systems to eliminate
nitrogen oxides, and limestone-gypsum flue gas desulfurisation
system to curb sulphur dioxide gas, to successfully reduce
smoke and sulphur by more than 99.9% and 90% respectively.
In addition, the plants of the Group have also employed an
even more effective wet desulfurisation facility to further lower
sulphur dioxide emissions to 400 mg/m’®, an emission quantity
much less than the relevant national standard. The Group has
monitored the quality of air emissions emitted on a real-time
basis to ensure outperforming the relevant national standard
by use of online detection equipment.
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Sewage Discharges

As water was consumed in the Group’s paper production
operations, there was sewage discharge. In order to reduce
sewage discharge generated from its production, the Group
has introduced the most effective sewage treatment techniques
employed by the paper-making industry worldwide, specifically
the combined use of physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation
pre-treatment, anaerobic digestion and aerobic digestion
technologies to achieve deep treatment. With the use of
internationally advanced sewage treatment techniques and
facilities, we have successfully maintained stability in the
volume and quality of sewage discharge, with the CODcr level
of major pollutants as well as the levels of NH3-N and SS in full
compliance with the maximum limits on discharges by pulp and
paper making operations under National Standard “GB3344-
2008" (Standard on Discharge of Water Pollutants by the Pulp
and Paper-Making Industry). After multiple treatments, sewage
discharged by the Group’s operations has achieved more than
99.5% of pollutants reduction. Also, the Group has achieved
water re-use by the rate of more than 80% in its production
and water discharge has been less than 10 m*/mt of paper
produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped
with water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and reduce
water consumption. In addition, there have been automatic
programmable logic controllers and online surveillance systems
in our sewage treatment stations to monitor the discharge of
sewage, thus facilitating the integrated management of
sewage discharge. Also, we have enabled reasonable re-use of
sludge and methane generated in the sewage treatment
process. Water content of the sludge was lowered to around
50% with fully automatic recessed plate filters and then the
dried sludge was burnt at thermal power stations in order to
reduce solid wastes. The methane generated in the anaerobic
treatment systems in the sewage stations was also collected
and used as part of the fuel for the boilers in the power

stations, thus greatly saving the coal required.
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Wastes

No significant hazardous wastes were produced in the Group's
production operations. The wastes generated in our operations
were mainly non-hazardous ones produced in the course of
paper-making, together with a small quantity of wastes due to
routine office work.

The Group has principally reduced or disposed of wastes
generated from its paper-making operations in three ways.
First, as the Group used lots of waste paper as a raw material
in its paper-making operations, a big quantity of paper-making
residue was left behind after extraction of useful fibres for the
paper-making process. As the residue contained different
impurities, the residue was carried to a washing line where
reusable metal wires, aluminium cans and plastics in the residue
were collected and sold to recyclers. Also, the plants of the
Group have had sewage treatment facilities to filter sewage
generated from the paper-making process. The sludge
generated in several hundred metric tons per day in the sewage
treatment station was then burnt in boilers after treatment and
deep drying. The energy generated by burning the waste in a
circulating fluidised bed boilers could be re-used in the paper-
making process and therefore, not only secondary pollution
would be avoided but energy consumption would be saved.
Finally, the residue remaining after recovery of reusable
materials and other wastes unsuitable for burning were
disposed of legally by qualified contractors as landfill.

Use of Resources

As a paper-making enterprise with 5 plants in China, the Group
inevitably required a large amount of water and energy in its
daily operations.

The Group has actively adopted measures in each aspect of its
production processes to curb energy consumption in its
operations. For example, the Group has reduced energy
consumption by substituting high-performance equipment for
older ones and making relevant changes to its electricity
facilities, and has also adopted efficiency-enhancing and
energy-saving technologies such as the full use of frequency
conversion and high voltage compensation devices.
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Meanwhile, the Group has closely monitored energy input and
output as well as energy consumption by production and non-
production operations with an effective mechanism for
measuring, monitoring and analysing energy consumption, and
has also created corresponding posts to manage the use of
energy. The Group has indeed received commendations of the
Government Examination Team for Energy-Saving and
Emissions Reduction for our promotion and implementation of
various measures to save energy, reduce emissions and achieve
environmental protection alongside economic growth.

Energy Consumption

The transportation and production processes in our daily
operations have involved the use of great amounts of energy
for running the relevant machines. Diesel and coal have been
the major energy sources we used. As the various plants of the
Group have had their own coal-fired generators to ensure
availability of sufficient power necessary for the high power
consuming paper-making machines, we have not purchased
electricity power from the national power grid.

The Group has used coal as the fuel for our thermal power
stations for its highest energy content compared with other
kinds of fuel. We have also employed co-generation technology
to turn residual heat from the power generation process into
heat source for use in paper-making, thus considerably raising
the efficiency of energy use and reducing the consumption of
coal.
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In order to achieve energy-saving and reduce emissions, the
Group has made it a requirement that new technologies which
could help lower energy consumption should be used for every
component of the production line as far as possible. Moreover,
the Group has introduced a number of projects which aimed at
lowering energy consumption, such as the gradual substitution
of highly energy-consuming electricity-powered machines for
variable-frequency ones for better energy-saving performance
and thus lower production cost. Moreover, methane and
certain of the solid wastes which were side products in the
sewage treatment process referred in the “Sewage Discharges”
and “Wastes” sections above could be burnt in boilers in the
thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel for the coal
boilers.

The Group has also continued to optimise energy management.
We have raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power
generation process and in the paper-making process and have
therefore successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit
year by year. In the Reporting Period, the overall energy
consumption per metric ton of paper produced by the Group
was less than 0.34 metric ton of standard coal equivalent, over
18% lower than that five years ago and substantially lower
than the national average of 0.60 metric ton of standard coal
equivalent.

Water Consumption

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of
the Group’s water consumption. In order to save municipal
water supply (which was considered more valuable because of
its potable water standard), the Group has obtained its water
supply by directly taking water from rivers and then carrying
out purification process to satisfy the industrial water standard.
In doing so, we have helped protect the valuable potable water
resources. As far as water saving was concerned, the Group
has principally adopted the strategy of re-using water in its
production. The amount of natural water required by the
Group has been considerably lowered as a result of our
employment of advanced and very efficient sewage treatment
techniques and the use of a higher percentage of re-used
water in our production process.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The impact of commercial activities on the environment and
natural resources has always been a great concern to the
Group. As a commitment to reduce the logging of natural
timber, we have been using recycled paper as the materials for
paper-making, the primary business of the Group. In addition
to complying with environmental regulations and international
rules on protection for the natural environment, the Group has
also incorporated concepts of environmental friendliness into
our internal management and daily activities. In our striving to
attain environmental sustainability, we have successfully
received ISO 14001 Certification for Environmental

Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection
and efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential
effect of our business operations on the environment on an on-
going basis and promoted the green office and the green
production environment in adherence to four principles,
namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle” and “Replace”, in
order to minimise the impact of our operations on the

environment.

Timber Logging

As tree fibre is a necessary raw material for paper-making, the
use of pulp as a raw material for paper-making indirectly leads
to demand for timber logging. With the use of advanced
production machinery, we have been able to use waste paper
as a raw material in paper-making in big amounts. It has been
a long-term objective of the Group to use more waste paper
and less virgin pulp. The Group has been committed to raising
the percentage of use of waste paper as raw material and
becoming one of the containerboard manufacturers with the

highest recycling rate in the world.

Among the paper produced by the Group, 98% were made
from recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp.
This was exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect
forests and minimise the impact of our operations on the

environment.
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Noises

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would
cause rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has chosen
to use low noise equipment and products as far as possible in
the course of building the pulp and paper production lines and
the thermal power stations in order that noises could be
lowered at the sources. Moreover, as an effort to lower sound
pollution to the environment, the Group has installed various
sound isolation facilities to contain noises due to running of
machines and has added silencers on noisy equipment such as
blowers and exhaust fans. For the sake of our employees’
health, the Group has built soundproof control rooms at the
pulp and paper-making workshops where workers can work in
a healthy environment without being influenced by the big
noises. Meanwhile, the Group has added more plantation in
the factory area to help dampen propagation of noises apart

from cleaning of the air.

SOCIAL
Employment

It has always been Lee & Man's belief that our employees are
one of the most important assets of the Group and their
productivity has directly contributed to the Group’s success.
Therefore, care for employees has been an important aspect of
our human resources management. We have been dedicated
to improving our personnel policies and workplaces to provide
a good working and living environment to our employees for

their better health, growth and performance.

Recruitment, Promotion and Compensation

The Group has been eager to recruit talents who share the
same values and ideas with us so that we can achieve mutual
growth and a win-win situation. To facilitate attraction of high
quality people, the Group has been closely monitoring the
trends of the labour and economic markets and has made
annual assessments and necessary revisions in order to maintain

competitiveness of our salary levels.
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We have determined the salary of each employee in accordance
with their performance, experience, expertise, job duties and
market salary level. We have also provided other employee
benefits including insurance, medical benefits, stock options as
well as discretionary bonuses depending on the employees’
performance and our business results.

Furthermore, the Group has always attached importance to the
career growth of our employees. As we have offered internal
training programs and promotion opportunities, our employees
could have chances to enhance their working knowledge, skills
and experience and to be transferred to different positions and
job duties. They could widen their horizons and grow together

with the Group in line with our overall strategy.

Employees’ Welfare

We have valued two-way communication with our employees.
We have kept an open mind to listen to and see the merits of
the employees’ opinions. The Group have assessed and
improved the meals, accommodation, amenities and other
services provided to employees from time to time to ensure
availability of a comfortable environment to them. The Group
has also tried to raise the sense of belonging of the employees
and enrich their spare-time life by organising recreational
activities for them and their families. We have set up an
employees’ welfare fund to help them meet emergency needs.
If an employee or his family had a need for financial assistance
due to an emergency, the Group would allocate a benefit to
the employee directly from the fund to help them address the
difficulties.

Equal Opportunities

The Group has been an equal opportunity employer. We have
ensured that our employees received equal treatments in our
daily operations and in every aspect of our human resources
arrangements and would not be subject to discrimination on
ground of ethnicity, nationality, religion, political affiliation, sex,
marital status and physical disability.
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Other Employment Practices

The human resources policies of the Group have been in
compliance with all local labour requirements including those
on recruitment, dismissal, salary and benefits, working hours
and holiday entitlements to protect the lawful rights of our
employees. During the Reporting Period, we did not find
anything which constituted a breach of laws and regulations

on employment and human resources.

Health and Safety

Workplace health and safety

Always attaching importance to the working environment of
our employees, the Group has been committed to providing a
safe and satisfactory workplace for them and has taken
necessary measures to protect their health and safety. The
Group has regularly organised first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation
and fire escape drills to raise the safety awareness of our
employees. Different posters and notices have been posted in
the workshops to remind employees of the importance of
occupational safety. Meanwhile, the Group has also issued
worker’s manuals setting forth policies and practices on
occupational safety for reference by all of our employees. The
Group has also set up a proper accident reporting and
investigation mechanism to more effectively identify accident

and safety risks.

The Group has continued to make investments to improve the
employees’ workplace and has received recognitions for doing
so. Our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi
were granted with OHSAS 18001 certification for occupational
health and safety. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not find anything which constituted a breach of occupational

health and safety laws.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report

H o 2 (R 18 51
AEBWANERBEE  2HEEM -
BERE - HNEAIOKE IR - BRBE
SH  ESEREAEEANS X
flEiT - S B THRFFIRE - 1
ARBEREAR - EEXRE HREM
ERERNANERBREIDEDIER
BB

RERZZ

TR HEERE
REFFEERETHIHERE &
hAEETIREEBRLT2MHIER
% REDFARERBRIEETH
BEREZE  AEETHTHEEK -
N BAR - EEEE - RSB
IR2E#H - £EEHBE TR
EL2EMMERHZIREET - &
B EGIRTE TF M - ¥4I R
ZEEBNHERREAMHAEETIZ
E o HN EEMERLAENER
IR SHE - A BB F R
ML EEE -

REBTHEBRERNEE IR
5 WISHBEESTE o fiE - TEH
ERARIBKELRS D B E 3
OHSAS18001 i FE R L 2RE -
REEBRERN - SEWSEEIREM
BRBERERZZHEBENER
BIIER, ©



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERKRSE (H)

Development and Training

Lee & Man'’s success has been the result of our employees’
efforts. Well aware of the importance of the personal growth
and enhancements of the employees, we have set up a proper
mechanism of providing internal and external training on new
knowledges and skills for employees to help them cope with
the development strategies of the Group.

Internal Training

The internal training programs offered by the Group could
principally be categorised into admission training, production
safety training and fire safety training. Admission training,
which mainly covered introduction to the firm, rules and
procedures, and attendance and salary matters, was aimed at
familiarising new joiners with the Group’s background and
expectations of the Group on employees. Our production
safety training has borrowed the concepts of 7S management
practices which were first adopted in Japan and relevant I1SO
requirements and aimed at improving the quality of the
production and working environment. Fire safety training
emphasised the raising of employees’ awareness of fire safety

and improving their ability to address emergencies.

External Training

Apart from training provided by the Group internally, we also
sponsored employees to receive training offered by third party
institutions. The external training programs were generally
expertise training which focused on provision of most updated
industry information and techniques desirable for raising
productivity and competitiveness. We have also arranged
external training for selected employees to ensure they attained
the relevant knowledge and skills to be competent for the
special job duties which they were responsible for. For
employees who had the potential and ability to join the
management, the Group would arrange comprehensive

management training for them to prepare them for promotion.
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In addition, for the sake of continuous development of the
Group, we have put in place a management trainee program
to develop potential successors to different positions. We have
also selected trainees to attend a two-year diploma course on
paper-making technique offered by the South China University
of Technology in Guangzhou every year with the Group's
sponsorship. After graduation, those trainees would be
assigned job duties at different positions in the Group.

Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has only recruited people who have attained the
legal working age in strict compliance with the local labour
laws and regulations. There have been sufficient and effective
internal controls in our recruitment procedures to avoid the use
of illegal labour. We have recruited our workers in adherence
with the principles of fairness, openness and free will. Our
subsidiaries have entered into legal employment contracts with
employees without using any forced labour service. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not find anything which
constituted a breach of labour laws and regulations.

Supply Chain Management

As we are a production enterprise, supply chain management
has always been a critical aspect in our quality control system.
We have maintained a stringent supplier assessment
mechanism to carry out selection of suppliers according to I1SO
guidelines in order to ensure the suppliers’ compliance with
relevant quality and service requirements as well as laws and

regulations on environmental and social matters.
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Procurement of Raw Materials

To preserve natural resources, the Group has primarily used
waste paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material in paper-
making. In order to obtain a stable supply of waste paper, the
Group has engaged designated agents to source high quality
waste paper materials worldwide including in the Netherlands,
the United Kingdom, the United States and Canada, also as a
way to benefit from flexibility of choice. Our sourcing agents
collected waste paper materials through various channels
including recyclers, supermarkets, local authorities and retailers
and then shipped the materials to us through our transport
teams. In fact, this has been the most effective and the fastest
way to collect and carry the waste paper materials in

accordance with relevant regulations.

Besides, the Group has been operating more than 50 waste
paper collecting and packing sites in Mainland China and has
also been sponsoring a number of other business partners in
China to source high quality waste paper locally as a way to

develop paper sources as well as to support paper recycling.
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Product Responsibility

Product Safety

Always with customers as our first priority, the Group has been
committed to meeting their requirements with high quality
products and services. We have made our product information
transparent and have made accurate and updated product
information available to customers. As we highly value product
safety, we have obtained IECQ QC 080000 certification for the
hazardous substance process management of our four plants in
Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi. A proof that our
paper products were free of banned hazardous substances, the
certification could boost customers’ confidence in the products
of the Group. Meanwhile, the various plants of the Group have
also successfully obtained I1SO 9001 certification for their quality
management system. We have also obtained the Forest
Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC)
certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the
Group has established a risk assessment team to assess product
quality and safety risks regularly in order to address issues
promptly for protection of the Group’s and customers’

interests.

After-sale Services

The Group has maintained an after-sale service department to
follow up concerns and opinions of customers so as to provide
customers with fully satisfactory services. In all sales territories
in China, the Group has engaged designated after-sale service
personnel to provide technical support to customers and follow
up their complaints or questions. The Group has also set a time
limit within which customers should receive follow-ups and
responses from our after-sale service personnel as a guarantee
that their concerns can be addressed fast and their

requirements can be satisfied to the greatest extent possible.
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Data Privacy

Well aware of the importance of privacy, the Group has taken
data protection measures necessary for protecting the interests
of all stakeholders. We have ensured that our employees have
access to operating data required for performing their duties
only. We would not allow disclosure of information
unauthorised by the information owner except otherwise

required by law.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find anything
which constituted a breach of relevant laws and regulations on

product or service quality.

Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering

Lee & Man has always observed laws and regulations on
prevention of commercial crimes in our daily operations, in
adherence to our principles of acting with integrity and
fairness. We have published our code of personal and
professional conduct in the employees’ manuals for their
compliance. In addition to anti-bribery and anti-corruption
policies which have been substantiated in the employees’ rules,
the Group has also put in place a whistleblowing mechanism to
encourage reporting of improper acts by employees and
stakeholders. Meanwhile, the Group has regularly assessed and
reviewed the effectiveness of our internal control system to
ensure that potential corruption risks can be identified and

eliminated.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find anything
which constituted a breach of laws and regulations on anti-

corruption or counter-money laundering.

BRHRE

SEARERRENERNE  BITT
AEHREREREZ N ENNE
SEBRETREBI TEMBNZ
BER - BROAPIFTAMAREIN - I
TR FEMREE R EHENT

7o

RARERER  SEWEEFER
B o~ ARAS G E AR R ADE DA AR B
BRHIR -

k&S

By - B A Mot R 8
BYEH—BEFREARZR  QRLEHNTF
5 HEBABREEPETHAMLEAR
REABEOVESR - KERBE T
ARFTTZEAREXERTHE TR
B - MRETTRIRNARRBHMERE
TBIERERIN AR TR AR LB TR
BETHFOERBETEETR - 1t
Sh - REEEHNER - A ABEE
R - ERABNEIE R AL
BROwP E - HRBAENESRER

RS HEA - SEIEEAERE
REIGMOARBERBEDEDERNE
SR o

BYGERARAT 2016 F3 43



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

44

Community Investment

Lee & Man has always been committed to shouldering our
social responsibilities. We have made contributions in three
major respects, namely, community development,
environmental protection and support for the under-privileged,
with a commitment to help members of the community in
need and facilitate social advancement by participating in
charitable causes with resources we have won in our

commercial operations.

Community Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education causes and have sponsored the building of a number
of education facilities. The Patrick Lee Wan Keung Science and
Engineering Laboratory Building in Hainan University in Hainan
Province donated by Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Patrick
Lee Wan Keung Academic Building in Lingnan University, Hong
Kong donated by Mr. Lee Man Bun, and the Lee Keung Study
Hall in Jiaji Secondary School, Qionghai City, Hainan Province
also donated by Mr. Lee Man Bun are among the results of the
zeal of our founders for the facilitation of community

development.

Environmental Protection

As described in the sections on environmental protection
above, the Group has been making great endeavours to keep
possible pollutions and negative impacts of our operations on
the environment to a minimum. The Group has received
recognitions from government authorities, professional bodies
and many others in the community including certifications and
awards for the investments and efforts we have made in
respect of environmental protection. Certifications and

accolades won by the Group have included the following:
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The Group/Specific Plants Certifications/Accolades Obtained

&8 BE Rk RIE

All of our plants in China ISO 9001 certification for quality management
BB NPT A R 1S09001 i & & Il B+

All of our plants in China

BB R AT L

All of our plants in China

HEBAMERE

Hongmei and Huangyong plants

//\Ti&/ﬁ/ﬁ V%

The Group
58

The Group
£H

Hongmei and Huangyong plants

//\Ti&/ﬁ/ﬁ V%

Hongmei plant

HIGHE

Chongging plant

ISO 14001 certification for environmental management
ISO14001 RFE IE B2 E

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) certification
AMRERREHEE ERFE(FSC-COC)

GB/T23331-2012 certification for energy management system
GB/T23331-2012 BEREIE

e
FJE/ \ij,J MRS

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

BRBREEBH (BUEX)

Named an “Environmental-Friendly Enterprise”
RIERERAE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and an
“Qutstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

BEREBREELERERESHATTEAEFLE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
EfiRE SR BB SR

Named an “Ecological Improvement and Environmental Protection”
BRI S B AR

BYGERARAT 2016 F3

45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

Support for the Under-privileged PHEFIE

Lee & Man provided generous support for the victims and also B ERR T IR ERSERE KR
solicited donations through our employees every time an ETEHEHRARODIHRERL - £EBRN
earthquake or other natural disaster occurred and led to serious R EREREEMETER - &
casualties. Donations received were sent to charitable SHEeHABERESAEE SR
organisations for the quick relief of victims and rebuilding of ARREHERERE  Z2FKE - BF
their homes. Disasters which we organised donation functions EEBKERERNLEERIEN)IIT
included the earthquakes that occurred in Wenchuan in JHE - S8 FEmE - M L
Sichuan Province, Yushu in Qinghai Province and Ya’an also in BE o

Sichuan Province.

46 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkEREEE[FN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 46, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company and founder of the
Group, is in charge of corporate planning and investment projects.
Dr. Lee has over 23 years of operational experience in paper
manufacturing and is experienced in professional formula of paper
making and product development. Dr. Lee was conferred the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Applied Science from the University of British Columbia in
Canada. He is currently involved in a number of public engagements
and has been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan and
reputational citizenship of Changshu. Dr. Lee was awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002” and received an
award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons
Selection Awardees”. In 2011, Dr. Lee was appointed as Vice
President of China Paper Association. He is currently appointed as
Chairman of Centum Charitas Foundation. He is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the listed company, Bossini International
Holdings Limited. Dr. Lee is the brother of Mr. Lee Man Bun, an
Executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive
Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 36, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH, the Member of Commission
on Poverty (Youth Education, Employment and Training Task Force),
the Committee Member of Social Welfare Advisory Committee and
also the Advisory Committee of The Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme, Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
is responsible for production management, sales, daily operation,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production
machines and factory staff management etc. Mr. Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. Mr. Lee is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015" and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 41, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 15 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the

Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 77, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited, Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited and
Chevalier International Holdings Limited. All the aforesaid companies

are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 74, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 74, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 46 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David, aged 53, he has over 20 years of
experience in corporate finance, working on projects ranging from
initial public offering transactions and restructuring of PRC
enterprises to cross-border and domestic takeover transactions. Mr.
Chau was formerly a partner of one of the big four accounting firms
in Hong Kong, holding the position as their Head of Merger and
Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. He is a director of the Hong
Kong Securities Institute, the member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales (“"ICAEW"), and was granted the
Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW. Mr. Chau is also the
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™), and was an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary
Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is the member of Jinan Municipal
Committee of the CPPCC. Mr. Chau is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Man Wah Holdings Limited, China
Evergrande Group, Richly Field China Development Limited,
Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited, Hengten Networks Group
Limited and IDG Energy Investment Group Limited (Former named
Shun Cheong Holdings Limited). All the aforesaid companies are
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 50, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 28 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of the listed company, China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited. He joined the Group in August
2002.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 46, is the Deputy General Manager of
the Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and energy saving projects. He holds a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 23 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr. Yan Jean Goo, aged 51, is the Deputy General Manager of
Chongging Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation
& management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 29
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 52, is the Administration Manager of
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Hau Giang plant operation
and management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production
and Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 23 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Chan Chi Ho, aged 48, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr. Chan has over 29 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr. Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 41, is the Head of Quality Assurance,
responsible for the packaging paper and tissue paper production
quality of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master's Degree in Mechanical Engineering from McMaster University
in Canada. He has over 15 years of experience in engineering safety
aspects management. He joined the Group in October 2011.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 55, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 32 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

Mr. Chu Kwok Lung, aged 54, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper and has over 32
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 42, is the Head of Information
Technology of the Group responsible for the Information Technology
Strategic Planning and Execution. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science & Engineering from University of Toronto in Canada
and has over 17 years of experience in IT supervision and 9 years of
senior management experience from different multinational
companies. He joined the Group in October 2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. So Kin Man Martin, aged 45, is the Administration Manager of
Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper’s
daily operation and management. Mr. So holds a Bachelor’s Degree
of General Studies from Simon Fraser University in Canada. He has
over 16 years of management and manufacturing experience. He

joined the Group since June 2014.

Mr. Tse Pak Kong, aged 53, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 30 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local
companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr. Chan Kong Sang, aged 57, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 34 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Hitt&EH

ULTIMATE SUPPLIERS AND BUYING AGENTS

Besides purchasing directly from the suppliers, the Group also
engages certain independent buying agents to source waste paper
from their ultimate suppliers mainly supermarkets, paper packing
companies and recycling plants. The Group’s buying agents in the
United States and Europe, namely Ralison International Inc., Mark
Lyndon International BV and Mark Lyndon Paper Enterprises (UK)
Limited, are ultimately owned by Mr. Albert Chiu Tung-Choi, a
distant relative of the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder,
Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick and his sons, Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are executive
directors of the Company. These buying agents are not “connected
persons” of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules. They receive
a commission for sourcing the raw materials of waste paper and they
did not trade and are contractually obliged not to take a position on
or otherwise maintain an inventory of waste paper themselves. Their
primary role is to coordinate the logistics in order to have the waste
paper delivered to the Group, including on-site inspections and
customs clearance, and thereby reduces the regulatory risk for the
Group. The total prices paid for the waste paper (including the price
of waste paper paid to ultimate suppliers and commission paid to the
buying agents) were made on an arm’s length basis. The Group
sourced 41% and 42% of its total raw materials through these
buying agents for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015
respectively. The commission paid to these buying agents amounted
to HK$84.7 million and HK$89.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2016 and 2015 respectively.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any

interest in the share capital of the five largest suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in

notes 37 and 19 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 73.

An interim dividend of HK11 cents per share amounting to
HK$501,226,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during
the year. The directors of the Company now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK11 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 18 May 2017, amounting to approximately HK$499
million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders represented the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits and net of
the share repurchase reserve of HK$4,246,508,000 (2015:
HK$4,429,415,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 7 of the

annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$3,972 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. An amount of HK$375,665,000 was
transferred from property, plant and equipment to investment
properties for generating rental income. Details of the movements in
the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 and 9 and pages 10 to 13 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and

Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement
its strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the
relevant markets. The management of the Group will continue
to make efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage
of capital fund in order to maintain the Group's

competitiveness in the paper industry.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

56

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group's strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 31(ii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 31(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%%éiﬁi (IIE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

TERRETAREEE)

5. Currency risk 5. EB¥EKE
The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign REBABINERGURIINER
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign B UBEASEEAZIINERTER
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign %o NEEER R ERINER R
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are LARE R K B [ B b 2R B & 1R
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has B AREEEEE Y ZBEINER
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to Ha I ABREEBRR -
mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.
Details of the currency risk are set out in note 31(ii)(a) to the EERBABHINNGETBRE
consolidated financial statements. BEEE31(ii)(a) °

6. Interest rate risk 6. FIEEM

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank

AEFBZHELSRENREBRTIER
FERBITHEBIBITEEARER
ROTEEZARBENERR - 12

BEAENXER IHEAFTER
ERYEHBBANKZE -

borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 31(i)b) to FEERRFBHIN DG M FHRE
the consolidated financial statements. B 5E31(i)(b) °
GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND AEBENREBRERRKRE
PERFORMANCE
Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high B BXRBIN - AEBERESREZLE

BEEHREYRIFEERME SR
BETRAAEEAEN HEZORYE
REZ - ARBBNRREARAEBLE
RARBI R AT EAIRE LB 2
ARERERELER -

standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

ARBZEBRRBERERRABHIINAF
WE260EEE46B2RE  HERER
WE e

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 26 to 46 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps through the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 10
to 13.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sas jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee
Man Bun, Mr. Peter A. Davies and Mr. Chau Shing Yim David retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2014, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his

retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT UNDER
RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the

Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has entered into certain loan agreements with total loan
facilities of about HK$10,161,000,000, out of which HK$855,000,000
are repayable within one year, HK$866,000,000 are repayable
between one to two years and HK$8,440,000,000 are repayable
between two to five years. Under these loan agreements, it is an
event of default if any one or all of Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Dr.
Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the controlling
shareholders of the Company, cease to legally and beneficially own,
directly or indirectly, in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued
share capital of and equity interest in the Company or do not, or
cease to, exercise management control over the Company. Upon the
occurrence of any of the above events, the outstanding liability under

the loan facilities will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company
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Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {5&RQATERIT
EEpE 54 EERHE RAB DL
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 280,000,000 6.16%
FXEEL EnEBA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 307,150,000 6.76%
FXH L EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 2,867,477 0.06%
FRBrEE mECEBEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.002%
ERNHIR EmEAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2016.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2016, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

ARFE -~ HERAR - tEEANE QA
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Percentage

Number of of the issued

issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity BFECRT (hEARSEBIT

MREREE 54 HERHE RAB L

Gold Best Holdings Ltd. Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 55.81%

ERERA

Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation (note i) 2,536,710,000 55.81%
FEREL B AR RA (D

Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 2,536,710,000 55.81%

TEEBIT BB A (BT

notes:

(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”) is wholly owned by Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick.

(ii) Under the SFO, Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the

2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, a beneficial owner of Gold Best.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2016.

i
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Bg kA (GoldBestEmH A A) MELE - &
AR BYEH22,536,710,000% AR M €4 o

Bl EEEN AR BMEELSR
2016F 12 A31 B AR B I MH ek B D
ZAE A EMmAREERIAE ©
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 25 of this
Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the
Stock Exchange.

ZEBUFITES
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers comprised of 32% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2016.

BERS (%)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$2,910,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

28 February 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % A

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee and
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
73 to 176, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

BEEITEE

EEETEE

RREFERTHEBRBEATHEE AL
RBRUAPGAVBRERNEARRER
MEHE ELEHREENTENERES
MBEHRRREABERBETRIERN - K17
TeHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FITUEERRETSER

Impairment loss on trade receivables

FEWE GRS 2 mE AR

We identified the impairment loss on trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the significant degree of management judgement
involved in recognising impairment loss on trade receivables.

AITHPIEWE ZERFREB R RBREN FERERGA MK

WRCEEMREEE2EAEEEE S RFREBERNEERE
J_g o

The carrying amount of trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$2,101 million, net of impairment loss amounting
to approximately HK$30 million recognised as at 31 December
2016. Referring to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
management estimates impairment loss on trade receivables based
on management’s assessment of the ultimate realisation of these
receivables by considering the ageing of the trade receivables
balances, the repayment history, the financial conditions and
current creditworthiness of each customer.

20165124310 BIRE ZERFEHR D BAREBES £4
3, 000830 - BREAEA XEL21.01EBE T - 2ELEAMBHRE
fisrapmit - BREMAARKE SRR OREBEENEEELE
BE-—EFPHEKE ZERERZRER - BRES  UBELK
BITEEANR LA FRUERT 2 &AL et -

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
sufficiency of the impairment loss on trade
receivables estimated by management
included:

AT E IR E AT W E 5 RIORE
EIERR EHHNTRELE

o Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables is estimated
by the management and the approval
procedures for recognising the
impairment loss on trade receivables;

o B RRE TR B a5t I E B BR TR
BEEENEREWE ZEIFERR
LEMIRT

o Testing the accuracy of the aged
analysis of trade receivables and
tracing the subsequent settlements to
source documents, on a sample basis;

o AIBEUE FERERE 6 E M1 R IA
MENXMHERBERIFNIER |
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTER (conTiNUED) BRETEEE)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETSE FTMAEERRESE

Impairment /loss on trade receivables

FEW B 5 iRt 2 E 1R

o For the trade receivables without
subsequent settlement, assessing the
reasonableness of management’s
assessment on the impairment loss of
trade receivables with reference to the
ageing of the trade receivable
balances, the repayment history, the
financial conditions and current
creditworthiness of each customer;
and

o HBEEBMRENZEWKE SRR T
HERE2EE—FFPZREESK
MERIRE - BRERE - BHEAR
RITEERRE B E ZRFUBER
BIEHENEENE &

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of
the management estimates on the
impairment loss on trade receivables
made in prior years by comparing the
historical impairment loss recognised
to the actual settlement and actual
loss incurred, and tracing the actual
settlement to the source documents,
on a sample basis.

o EBHERACDHRRMERERE  BY
BRhERENRERER - RbE
NHEHERBMER - AT HER
B BEFE A RIEHEKE 58k
FORME IR AE 2 2R o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Chiu Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 February 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 12431 H IFF/E

2016
NOTES HK$'000
LiF TET
Revenue A 5 18,341,677
Cost of sales £ & Bk A (14,261,143)
Gross profit ESAll 4,080,534
Other income Habug A 545,701
Other gains and losses Habiss R EE 22,250
Share of loss of a joint venture EHEECEESE =
Distribution and selling expenses DEKEEER (251,943)
General and administrative expenses HER{ITHER (875,307)
Finance costs BF Rk AR 8 (167,218)
Profit before tax b 55 A &= A 3,354,017
Income tax expense FEBZH 9 (491,274)
Profit for the year FEER 10 2,862,743
Other comprehensive expense Hih2EZH
Item that may be reclassified HAEAEEN DR
subsequently to profit or loss: a2 HE
Exchange differences arising on BREBIINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE 3 =% (2,142,492)
Total comprehensive income FE#HZAERE
for the year 720,251
HK cents
pr 11
Earnings per share TR AT 14 62.64

BERAR AR 2016 F3R]

2015
HK$'000
AT
17,615,641
(14,037,356)

3,578,285
427,821
(31,475)
(152)
(317,659)
(751,798)
(154,860)

2,750,162
(418,487)

2,331,675

(1,422,056)

909,619

HK cents
il

50.43
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2016 K2016F 12 H31H

NOTES
FiEE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BB &R 15
Prepaid lease payments AT ERIA 17
Investment properties KEME 16
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME  WENEHE

property, plant and equipment Fridsl & 18
Interest in a joint venture aEERER 19
Loan to a joint venture AETEER 19
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 7E 20
Prepaid lease payments ERHEERIE 17
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K H AR 21
Amounts due from related companies A NI E ] 22
Tax recoverable CIR4ER S 9
Derivative financial instruments MEEHBIEA 26
Margin deposits REBE2FK 23
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRREIES 23
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R B Ath BR K 24
Amounts due to related companies e BN B FRIE 22
Derivative financial instruments MTEemIE 26
Tax payable e I8
Bank borrowings RITIEE 25
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRE

LIABILITIES aE
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2016
HK$"000
TEx

24,312,225
877,980
371,409

149,685

95,953

25,807,252

2,914,432
21,111
4,959,863
yAWE])
231

1,450
1,274,197

9,193,014

3,549,231
4,288
11,267
158,938
4,240,105

7,963,829

1,229,185

27,036,437

2015
HK$'000
TAT

23,351,149
721,498

388,860

95,953

24,557,460

3,092,018
17,486
4,869,211
19,879
72,430
1,532
10,391
2,958,656

11,041,603

3,042,968
3,852
14,824
136,881
5,250,362

8,448,887

2,592,716

27,150,176



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2016 K2016F 12 H31H

2016 2015
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
MI5E FE T FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 25 9,306,737 9,012,017
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE 27 906,735 901,972
10,213,472 9,913,989
16,822,965 17,236,187

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARF#HE
Share capital B& 2 29 113,642 114,475
Reserves =g 16,709,323 17,121,712

16,822,965 17,236,187

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 176 were £ 73F F176 B FHMNGAMBRED R
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 201742 A28 AR EE & H#t /& LI # T

February 2017 and are signed on its behalf by: UWHNINESRERE
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND Z 318 LEE MAN BUN Z= 3053
CHAIRMAN & DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N

GA RS

TE

I Az

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #{Z2016F 12531 HIFFE

Share
Share Share  Translation Capital Legal Special Other repurchase  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
Kt
RE RMEE EXRE  E0EM iR0RE  KRIRE  AMBE  BERE BB EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén T T TEn TEn Thn Tén T Thm
(note i) (note il (note i) (note iv)
k) (Mizti) (M) (Bvsko)
At 1 January 2015 R2015%1 418 16,750 4364916 2,634,309 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,060) - 10363419 17,476,984
Profit forthe year EREF - - - - - - - - BIE 2331675
Bichange differences arisngon R EIEINEHK
translation of foreiqn operations  EE 2 ERER - - (1,422,06) - - - - - - (1,422,056)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ EREZE ()
income for the year W - - (1422,0) - - - - - 3BIETS 909619
Shares repurchased and cancelled 17 B 1 Jo i 88 2275 (409,062) - - - - - - -3
Dividends recognised as BRENTL
disrbutions (note 13 K& (H3E13) - (3%03) - - - - - - BT (139079
At 31 December 2015 #20158124318 4475 3565525 1,212,253 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,060) - 12,346,344 17,236,187
Profit forthe year EREF - - - - - - - - 28673 286,783
Eichange differences arisingon A EE N E K
translation of foreign operations  EEZEXER - - 1249 - - - - - - Q1249
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ EREZE ()
income for the year W - - (1049) - - - - - 2860783 72051
Shares repurchased and cancelled {7 B 1 Jo i 38 (833 (156,342) - - - - - - - (157179
Shares repurchased and yettobe  FR17 BB W K
cancelled (note) i (Kt - - - - - - - @ - @
Dividends recognised as BREN LIRS
distioutons (note 13) (PiH13) - - - - - - - - (934176 (934,176)
At 31 December 2016 R2016512A318 13642 3,409,183 (930,239) 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,060) (42122) 14274911 16,822,965
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ma

Em2EHx (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 12431 H IFF/E

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group'’s ultimate holding company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years.

During the period from 23 December 2016 to 30 December 2016, 7,060,000
ordinary shares of the Company were repurchased at an aggregate cost of
HK$42,122,000. Subsequently, the repurchased shares were cancelled on 24
January 2017, and accordingly, the Company’s share capital and share premium
were reduced by HK$177,000 and HK$41,945,000 respectively.

fEE -
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

ELBERNBREPRAMARBREERAR—
REEWMBARLENBRRME -

RBORPIRERMIES - A2 R RORPI A
BRBARDERMEREDIRE  BEBETD
NEEMAM25%NEHE/ETAEE  HE
RELEMBARARAN—F AL ZELHE
ETERIRTERE -

Rl R RIE AR EN2003F9 8 REARK
BARGSHIBEARMNRAREEREELARA ]
Wi =AM BTHORDEEREE -

H 8 B EFE M B QR 2 R AR
Ui NI B8 A R IR R SR A AE

R20164F 12 4238 E20164%12 A30H #
BBl A QA E @A 7,060,000 % & A
42,122,000/ 7T - BEEIRGHEEEN2017F1 8
0B B ARRARARKG EE D
RE 4> 177,0007 7T }2 41,945,000 7T ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 12431 H IFF/E

2016
NOTES HK$'000
FisE THET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXRK
Profit before tax R B4 A0 2 A 3,354,017
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs B T PR AR 167,218
Depreciation and amortisation PrEE K 5 78,954
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment BiEEE 48,775
Impairment losses on trade EWE 5 R FORE
receivables &8 24,884
Write-off of trade receivables FEUUE 5 BR SR 8 9,502
Interest income FEHA (18,005)
Net gain from fair value changes of T4 42T A QAR E
derivative financial instruments BEnFW (7.412)
Share of loss of a joint venture B A& EEE =
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease HEBNHEEFIET
payments to a related company NSl 36())

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Decrease in inventories

(Increase) decrease in trade and
other receivables

Increase in amounts due from
related companies

Increase in amounts due to related
companies

Decrease in amounts due to
substantial shareholders

RERE 3,657,933
FERD 787,642
JEWE 5 Rk H MR

(38 hn) w4 (529,094)

JFE 5 R 38 1) B RIE G hn
(1,851)

JEE 1+ B 38 A R) R IB 48
436

e £ B RBRR B D

Increase (decrease) in trade and BNESREMER

other payables o Crt2>) 612,694
Proceeds from and settlement of HETESMTAMS

derivative financial instruments A 5,156
Cash generated from operations REXBEENRSE 4,532,916
PRC Enterprise AL

Income Tax (“EIT") paid
Hong Kong Profits Tax Paid

EEMBHR(TEEMER])
EREBMEHR

(262,502)
(2,530)

Purchase of tax reserve certificates BEHERS =
Interest paid BAF A (346,337)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEKMERS

ACTIVITIES FEEE 3,921,547
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2015
HK$'000
THET
2,750,162

154,860
78,279

5,609

1,825
(10,199)

(13,244)
152

(705)

2,966,739
758,832

669,067
(2,475)
116
(240,568)
(57,463)

3,806

4,098,054

(243,430)

(9,442)
(303,442)

3,541,740



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 12431 H IFF/E

2016
NOTE HK$°000
e TR

(3,501,434)
(236,405)
(68,934)
(2,995)
77,449
18,005

6,027

(3,708,287)

(18,776,749)
(934,176)
(199,297)

18,158,216

(1,752,006)

(1,538,746)

2,958,656

(145,713)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Purchase of property, plant and BEEUE BER
equipment B
Purchase of prepaid lease payments & B &8/ & %18
Placement of margin deposits FHREFESER
Addition to investment properties g mE Y
Withdrawal of margin deposits RIRFESTER
Interest received B FIE
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWME - BER
plant and equipment REISRIA
Loan to a joint venture BEDEER
Proceeds on disposal of prepaid lease & &I EFIE T
payments to a related company RAE N RIS E 36(i)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHMARE
ACTIVITIES HEE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& SEE
Repayment of bank borrowings BERIRITEE
Dividends paid ERRE
Payment on repurchase of shares i B i {9 1~ 3K
New bank borrowings raised MEERTEER
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RESER (FTA) T8
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFER
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN REeERREEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R4 ) 48 0 F 20
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEzRER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR B £ Z%EY
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE ERSE
CHANGES -2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZHER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, ReZEY
represented by bank balances and cash #8717 4588 & 3R &

1,274,197

BERAR AR 2016 F3R]

2015
HK$'000
TAT

(3,000,059)
(16,293)
(35,611)

25,017
10,199

27,019
(4,263)

8,245

(2,985,746)

(17,393,315)
(739,079)
(411,337)

18,916,123

372,392

928,386
2,032,567

(2,297)

2,958,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Z2016F 12431 H 1L F/Z

80

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr. Lee Wan Keung,
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint venture

are set out in notes 37 and 19, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

fFH el MEERT B BT
BEEAN(EBHBERELE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (”“HKFRSs") /\H)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFEBHERNLBITE S
effective for the current year B # R 5 2 A

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs AEEBRAFEERERAATHS

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

AEgtHAg([EEGMAE])
B 2 BB BV MEER

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of EEMBRELL  KEAFELERER
Interest in Joint Operations FNFEFTR) ok
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative ERGQHEUR R BEXHN
(B3 K)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable EReHENE 6% EETEABEN
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and RAEB R BESYNA
Amortisation F385 (B3I R)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants BRQHERE 16T RE: £EENED
and HKAS 41 LEB G ER
EFALACCHYN
EEMBREEN  REER: ERAH
F10%  BERE  He
ERBE12RR

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception

BEEGHER
F285 (BT A)
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BERMBREEL  2012FF2014%F
2012-2014 Cycle (B3I K) BREAMBRE

BRI F e

AFEREERLARETBEMBR
SREAMANEERAFE R BESF
B2 BRARMRR R, LR ER
EUBHR I BBELBEEATE -

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. fFH el MR ETR BN

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING WMEER (BB BE@mELE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTINUED) E'JJ ) (%)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but B AER B [ R E MR R &1
not yet effective BRI R
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBVEEFEBUATEEME
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet M ARERE I REETEBY B
effective: AR -
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' ERMBREEN SRIA
EXE
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERUBREEN  REBEPEHL
Customers and the related F15% WA RIEBER
Amendments'
HKFRS 16 Leases’ BEMBREER  HE’
F16%
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement BERUBEREEN  HUROHAERNRR
of Share-based Payment F29 (BFIR) SHLEBRFE
Transactions'
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial BERMBREEN RATAMBREE
Instruments with HKFRS 4 F4 (BEIAR) BIEARRB A K
Insurance Contracts' —HERBENK
HERFIRSE
I8
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERMBREEN REFRHEBEL
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FIORREEGTH S2hEZMEY
Associate or Joint Venture? AR 285 BEHEIIE’
(B3I K)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative* BERSHENER REXHE
(BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax BERQHENE N HAEREEER
Assets for Unrealised Losses’ (BETA) EEREEE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 1 R2018F 1 A1 Bz &G 2 FEH
AR ©
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 2 M2019F 1 A1BRK 2 B FAia 2 FEH
AR -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 3 REEE RIS Z BFRG2 FERRE AR
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 4 M2017F 1 A1B SRz &R 2 FE 8
AR -
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RE B RRMEE (E)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial
assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are relevant to the Group
are:

. in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2016, application of
HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on the
measurement of the Group's financial assets. The expected
credit loss model may result in early provision of credit losses
which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group's financial

assets measured at amortised cost.

2.

PFH el RICIERT BB TE
HMEEB ([ B ARG RE L
EIJJ)(,.%)

BEMBHRELENFSREMTA

BEVBERELERNFE IR A SR
BE REE - —REPEHZE
ReERMEEREERZORNRGE
HFTARE

BAEBEAMEBTEREER
FORZEBRERINIDT ¢

s MRETMEERE FBEHB
SHERAEIR R ER—IBTR
HMERBREN  MIERER
Bt ERIE3R L —AD &
EMERBRER - ZBEHIE
RIEREARE —EEREAN
HEHREMBERRZERAYE
RIEXRZEBHAESERS B Y
AFR - ARBR B 146 fE R =
ERkzEE - MOFER R
ETHBREEHZHELENEH
EHERERERX -

BIEAEBEN2016F12A31HZ
SRMTARRKREEREK  BRE
RABEEM B mEERF IR AL H A
EENEREE L EELAETRY
2 - BHERABARATEEEAK
SEDEEK AT ENSREE S
REEZERABRIZEFREME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mE

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

84

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations
when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard

introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies

a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.
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RE B RRMEE (E)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

2.

PFH el RICIERT BB TE
HMEEB ([ B ARG RE L
EIJJ)(@)

BEMBREZENF1SHREET
FEHHBA (&)

AAREETEBERERETEHB
WELERFEISHEAIEEREREZH
WE A AAREEHEBER
AP IEHEAERFE 1558 L H B R
EHRERRANEE L ST E
BEATE -

BEMBHREEDE

BAMBHREEMNF 165 S HR
BAREABANEEZH R ETE

1655 HE

B A—AFEEREN - EFBYH
WMEERFE16ERE - BERE
BeTERFE17REERIEERE -

BAMBHREENF16RRIFATH
HEERGHEPENREDHE
EERBELD - BKRREPHEREKESR
EMEN  KERBERENER
BABASFREFRBR - I h&
MABRFEHERRERAREE
RERENEAENR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

86

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for owned use and those classified as investment properties
while other operating lease payments are presented as
operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments in
relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing and

operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTinUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$16,578,000 as disclosed
in note 32. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the
application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new
requirements may result changes in measurement, presentation
and disclosure as indicated above. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the
directors complete a detailed review.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
Specially, the amendments require the following changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities to be disclosed: (i)
changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from
obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses;
(iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes
in fair values; and (v) other changes.

The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application
permitted. The application of the amendments will result in
additional disclosures on the Group's financing activities,
specifically reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial position for
liabilities arising from financing activities will be provided on
application.

2.

FERFTR] R IERT BB 15
BEEAN(EBHBERELE
A1) #)

BEMBHRELENFE 16REEE)

MN2016F 12 A31H  AEBEA
TAIRMBEHNECERERERH
16,578,000 T (# A KT 5E32) o
MPAEBETZELHEBETEERS
MR ELBFEI6HEBEBTIHENT
Z AURASEBERMEZER
ERATAREERYHEARGE K
FNERABAVBREERE 1658
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
(Continued)

In the opinion of the directors, the application of these
amendments will not result in any impact on the financial
performance or financial position of the Group in these
consolidated financial statements, except for the disclosure of

changes in foreign exchange rates of bank borrowing.

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipated that the application of other new and amendments
to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective will have no material

impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

2.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group's share of losses
of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods

are delivered and titles have passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is
recognised in the year in which the services are provided.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for

leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and

recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for

their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interest are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Impairment on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is

determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets and is included in the 'other gains or losses'
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 31(iii).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables (including loan to a joint
venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, margin deposits and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment of

loans and receivables below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments past the credit period
ranged 45 to 90 days and observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all loans and receivables with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company's own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The Group's financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as hedging

instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial
liabilities and included in the 'other gains or losses' line item.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 31iii).

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on
an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

108

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables of
the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability based on
management's judgment. A considerable amount of judgment
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the aging of the trade receivables
balances, the repayment history, the financial conditions and
the current creditworthiness of each customer. Impairment is
made based on the estimation of the future cash flow expected
to be received. As at 31 December 2016, an impairment loss
amounting to HK$30,360,000 (2015: HK$5,476,000) was

recognised on trade receivables.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2016, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$107,000,000 (2015:
approximately HK$38,000,000) was not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the expectation for future profit streams
changes, a recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which

such a recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2016, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of the group
companies in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain
those profits in the respective entities for their daily operations
and future developments. In case there is a change in such
plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised
in the profit or loss for the period in which the management
intends to declare such profits in the foreseeable future or the
Group's future development plan is amended, whichever is
earlier. Details of the above unrecognised liabilities are set out

in note 27.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results AT ABRBEESVB®RE ERESIH
by operating segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, HEDEEAREBIRKE DU
based on information reported to the Company's executive AREBODNT - MARBHITE
directors, being the chief operating decision maker (the FAFEREREE([FTEKE
“CODM™"), for the purposes of resource allocation and REREIIERBERSERFTHEDE
assessment of segment performance, which focuses on types REMEHRZEH - EPRARNM
of goods delivered. The Group's operating and reportable EWM2ER c AEBREBMBR
segments under HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments are as follows: EREBIER — AL DB T 2K E

KAl HmED BHEIIMT

(i)  Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, () BEA-FHE BHEFR
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high o BmMARE - BEFER
strength corrugating medium:; K= o AR AR

(i) Pulp; and (i) KRR

(iiiy ~ Tissue paper. (i) FAE4LK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHBER (#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DERARFELE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results NTRRAIREDBEI D 2 AE
by reportable segment: WARFEEDT -
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZE2016F12A31ALLEE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE K BEE  AWEE Eak )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THET THET TERT TR

REVENUE A
External sales HoMYE 17,036,779 303,086 1,001,812 18,341,677 — 18,341,677
Inter-segment sales Nz EEE — 369,230 — 369,230  (369,230) —
17,036,779 672,316 1,001,812 18,710,907  (369,230) 18,341,677
SEGMENT PROFIT PHBA 3,293,194 23,454 86,003 3,402,651 — 3,402,651

Net gain from fairvalue T4 4B T A

changes of derivative NREE

financial instruments Fla 7,412
Unallocated income APBZBA 123,509
Unallocated expenses APBEzEH (12,337)
Finance costs B FS RN (167,218)
Profit before tax IR 3,354,017
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWBAREE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2015 B Z2015F128318LEE
Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEK i HEE DA H i e

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
L TR A TET TET TR

REVENUE WA
External sales HoMEE 16,516,763 674,862 424,016 17,615,641 — 17,615,641
Inter-segment sales Dby EHE — 203,787 — 203,787 (203,787) —
16,516,763 878,649 424,016 17,819,428 (203,787) 17,615,641
SEGMENT PROFIT PHEF 2,815,711 78,403 32,909 2,927,023 — 2,927,023

Net gain from fairvalue T4 4 @I A

changes of derivative AREEY

finandial instruments FE 13,244
Unallocated income AAB WA 10,199
Unallocated expenses APBEZZ M (45,444)
Finance costs BITS AR (154,860)
Profit before tax PR AT 2 F 2,750,162
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the 1 B0 2 & et B BB ST 3P HE A
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. ZAREEEGTHE - DHEF
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment BE DB FTRENAF - il & B
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of KETESBMTERARBEEZH FUK
derivative financial instruments, rental income, interest income, wo HeHRA - FEWA - ERF
net exchange gain (loss), finance costs and other unallocated Wes (E518) ~ MK AREMRS
administrative expenses. This is the measure reported to the BEATHER - DREELERE
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and performance EERBRDERKXBAMEM 2 W
assessment. ZETRHE o
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. SV EEETNRRITMISERE

>

o
Ea
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities NTRRAIREDBEI D 2 AE
by reportable segment: BERBESIT

Packaging Tissue

paper Pulp paper Consolidated
B A HER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FART FART FTART FTAR

As at 31 December 2016 R2016 5

12A31H

Segment assets NEEE 26,911,905 2,441,548 3,832,784 33,186,237
Unallocated assets KB EE 1,814,029
Consolidated total assets REREE 35,000,266
Segment liabilities DEEE 2,419,891 116,304 2,559,483
Unallocated liabilities rofEzafE 15,617,818
Consolidated total liabilities ewaE 18,177,301

As at 31 December 2015 20155

12A31H
Segment assets DEEE 27,974,611 2,578,222 1,850,498 32,403,331
Unallocated assets KD EE 3,195,732
Consolidated total assets REBEE 35,599,063
Segment liabilities DESEE 2,183,535 32,813 38,855 2,255,203
Unallocated liabilities Koz aE 16,107,673
Consolidated total liabilities remaE 18,362,876
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEEREB(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REBZDBERAMR D HE SR E
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated BB EEASE TEENH(E
to operating segments other than certain prepaid lease THRNEERE  REME - T4
payments, investment properties, derivative financial EHMIAE - AJRBEIHIE  RESF
instruments, tax recoverable, margin deposits, bank balances o ROTEREBRERBARED
and cash and other assets used jointly by reportable segments, R TR 2 E & ERIN) ARFT
and all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than FRBUSETREDH (ITTET R
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings, TE ENAFRE-FITEE BT
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities for which reportable MEEEBERARS A HLBEEMNZ
segments are jointly liable. H A & &R -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Other segment information

Packaging
paper
BEE
HK$'000
TERT
At 31 December 2016 R2016512813H8
Amounts included in the STENHIERK
measure of segment profit DEEEBE
or loss or segment assets: UT2%

Addition to non-current assets  3ERE)E E I N

(note) (M%) 1,938,221
Depreciation of property, plant #1% « & k&

and equipment e 823,487
Loss on disposal of property,  HEME - BiRE &

plant and equipment HEZER 48,495
Amortisation of prepaid lease 8 < 1 & 5% I8 #6 %

payments 12,625
Impairment loss on trade FEWE 2 R FURE

receivables g 16,370
Write-off of trade receivables  FEULZ 5 BE Zuilf 4 9,502
At 31 December 2015 ®2015F12A831H
Amounts included in the STENEBEK

measure of segment profitor D EHEEBIE

loss or segment assets: AT &% :
Addition to non-current assets 3t B & & 45 0

(note) (B=E) 2,051,406
Depreciation of property, plant #1% - R & & &

and equipment e 785,703
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEVE BMEN

property, plant and Bl 2106

equipment 5,716
Amortisation of prepaid lease T8/ 70 & I8 # 44

payments 12,157
Write-off of trade receivables  FEULZ 5 BE il 8 1,825

5.

WARDEER (#)

Tissue
paper Consolidated
HER za
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT TERT

88,853 1,942,879 3,969,953

91,495 11,774 926,756
280 48,775
13,941

24,884
9,502

152,445 916,376 3,120,227
68,456 3,576 857,735
(107) — 5,609
981 30 13,168

— — 1,825

note: Amounts included additions to property, plant and equipment, prepaid
lease payments and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

No other amounts are regularly provided to the CODM but not
included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment
assets.

Mzt : SEBENEDE - BERRE BN
HERELBEDE  BFERREAN
EEa

MEEMESBIEHRETEER

BARAREMLBBIEAEE D AE
AN AEENTETR °
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from major products REFEZEE@HBA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its LTAAEEREETEERHEA
major products: DT

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Packaging paper (including linerboard 6% 4% (635 4 I 4% 2
and corrugating medium) FLS R 4E) 17,036,779 16,516,763
Pulp N 303,086 674,862

Tissue paper B 1,001,812 424,016

18,341,677 17,615,641

Geographical information b 15 & K

Over 95% (2015: 95%) of the Group's revenue were derived AEBZWAMEIBEIS% (20154 -
from external customers in the PRC. 95% ) KB FEISNE R o
Information about the Group's non-current assets is presented AEBEFRDEEENTNIREEM
based on the geographical location of the assets. EH 23 °

Non-current assets

FREBEE
2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
The PRC other than Hong Kong R - BFEBI 23,769,900 23,247,089
Socialist Republic of Vietnam Mt g ERAME

("Vietnam™) (reel) 2,019,507 1,288,740
Hong Kong a5 17,845 21,631

25,807,252 24,557,460
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about major customers FBEXrEEZEFZER
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AE FHRERRNTEARAEER
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEAEEBUWANEIRI0% °
period.
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HAbU A
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FATT
Value added tax and other tax refund BRETRRREMED 283,187 156,881
Income from supply of steam and HEZXRRE HRA
electricity 74,606 82,547
Income from wharf cargo handling LA EERA 53,876 62,185
Sales of materials and waste paper RE R K BE 4R S B 45,597 57,118
Interest income from banks RITH BULA 18,005 10,199
Others Hfb 70,430 58,891
545,701 427,821
7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HftWmKkEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$’'000
THERT FAET
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) FE R W (B8) 97,999 (37,285)
Net gain from fair value changes of PTESRMITAEAARE
derivative financial instruments BEFE 7,412 13,244
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEME - WE K
equipment HE 2 EE (48,775) (5,609)
Impairment loss on trade receivables  FEULE 5 BR FUREE 1B (24,884) —
Write-off of trade receivables e E 5 BR F 8 (9,502) (1,825)

22,250 (31,475)
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. B
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 346,337 303,442
Less: amounts capitalised to property, BEME - BEREREZ
plant and equipment BRb&HE (179,119) (148,582)
167,218 154,860
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FRZEXREEKRRTIHR—RRE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a ERmEYLY  WUEREREERX
capitalisation rate of 3.3% (2015: 3.3%) per annum to ZEREFEFE3I3%(20154F
expenditures on qualifying assets. 3.3%)5T &
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FB/HMIZH

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:  W{Ez AR 7 MEH

Current tax REARIIR

— The PRC EIT — BB EMREH EYEREY) 223,563
(Over) underprovision in previous year EFE(FBEE) T ERE

- The PRC EIT — BB EMREHR (PAEL) (1,834)

- Hong Kong —&B 361 74,600
Deferred tax (note 27) BIEFIR (F5E27)

— Charge to profit or loss —srAE&=E 119,916 122,158
Total income tax recognised in RIERAERZ

profit or loss RIS 491,274 418,487
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The underprovision for the year ended 31 December 2015 of
HK$74,600,000 represented additional Hong Kong income tax
expense on the compromised settlement reached with the

Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (“IRD").

The PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% except that five (2015: five) of
these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate of 15% for
the Group's financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the field audit
previously conducted by the IRD on the Hong Kong tax affairs
of certain subsidiaries of the Company for the years of
assessment 2003/2004 to 2014/2015 was settled on a
compromised basis at a sum of HK$74,600,000. This sum
payable had been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

After offsetting the tax reserve certificates of HK$72,430,000
previously purchased during the field audit, an additional
amount of HK$2,170,000 was paid in January 2016.

MEB K (#)

AEBZRFMERERBF BRI E
BT EMTIA %E&ﬂﬂ GINZS
$§E ?ﬁZ%R—.—ﬁ:%tf’

REZ2015F12831BLEFETZ
B8 2 74,600,000/8 T T EE B
BRBBEE]) ERLENZ B
R 2 BBINEBFEE o

]

AEBERPEOMB AR ZERD
EEHREEAE25% c MEHAM
(20154 : Af]) WBRARARE R
2016512 A31 R IEMBFEEZ AR
PERBRBEIS%

&

MNEZE2015F12 831 B I FE -
LA 74,600,000 % JT 258 &9 2 W 1%
RTFRER R T B /B 5t 2003/2004 =
20142015 M EEH R QA E T
MEAREEMBEETRTETH
HEHEET o WS REFT ABEE2015
FI2ANBIEFEZZEBEERHE
b2 ERERA °

HYypEMETPHEEEE Y
72,430,0008 ST REM AF B IKE - £
#(2,170,0008 TER2016F 1A X
fF o
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120

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 10%. They are entitled to a corporate
income tax exemption for four years from the first profit-
making year and a reduction of 50% for the following nine
years. No provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has
been made for both years as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred

losses for both years.

Others

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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R PP B 2~ AR 4% 55 58/99/M 5 VA
SRMA - B ER R HRNRPIHE
EHRORFIMER)  ATEREAE
STHEERAAMNFRRPIARL QR
HEEm e

4]

7 7 B B8 2 B 242 10 % B R U B
MEEMBHR EEZAaELATN
FREEFHFEFERLEEMER K
BE1& NLEF50% M % o 7 B e B /B
RARMEFEDERSER - #W
& 4 /2 5 48 3k B F (b R PR 1S WA
B e
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuED) 9.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Profit before tax

FR A A1 2 7

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%
(2015: 25%) (note)

Tax effect of share of loss of
a joint venture

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Effect of tax exemption granted to
Macau subsidiaries

Effect of concessionary rates granted to
the PRC subsidiaries

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

(Over) under-provision in previous years

FERRE25% (20154 :
25% ) (FI5E)
EihAaEEENHEEE
THHHEO T HOR G &
DEZRHOBRANHRIEZE

AERRBEEOREZE
SRPIH B A~ B EH R AT

v
B B A A E Bk
v

B Ay AR B
ARMTAB RO E
BAFE(BE) TR

Tax charge for the year

FRBRF R

note: This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a

substantial portion of the Group's operation is based.

MEBIH (#)

FRBS R ERE
iR EREROBFERNOT

2016
HK$'000
FERT
3,354,017

838,504

67,744

(31,446)
9,206

(51,257)

(360,998)

21,295
(1,774)

491,274

ReEBRmkHE

2015
HK$'000
TAET
2,750,162

687,541

38

65,256

(18,005)
4,514

(169,344)

(225,143)

864
72,766

418,487

MiEE s WRERARBERBABOEBZENEZ
BERER CEHAEHRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Z Z2016412H31H 1L F/Z

10.

122

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. FEBF|

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

FEANLHEGA)

charging (crediting):
Directors' emoluments (note 11) E=MWE (1)
Staff salaries and other benefits, BTIHS MEMBAH -

excluding those of directors TREES
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFF SR

schemes, excluding those of directors TRIEES
Total employee benefit expense EERAMZ B
Capitalised in inventories EFERE
Auditors' remuneration ZERAN Bl &

— Audit services —ZE AR

— Non-audit services — IEEBURTE
Cost of inventories recognised as expense FER AR A H
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments & {5 72 & FU0E B 1

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment
Depreciation of investment properties KREYERE
Total depreciation and amortisation Y& R tH AR
Capitalised in inventories EFEEARE

Operating lease rentals in respect of
land and buildings

T REFHEERERS
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2016
HK$°000
TRET

37,600

903,038

48,718

989,356
(640,520)

348,836

6,486
1,595
14,261,143

13,941

926,756
2,599

943,296
(864,342)

78,954

10,825

2015
HK$'000
FTAT

37,597

782,631

54,208

874,436
(578,258)

296,178

5,801
2,154
14,037,356

13,168

857,735

870,903
(792,624)

78,279

9,700
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

11. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 11. EBNEFEATEMS
OFFICER’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors' and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration for the FRNEEREENTENHSBRIE
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and HALTMARNRARGHHEEAT

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

Other emoluments
Hinif <

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees HER BRANEF Total
ok HA g R TEIHER Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
2016 2016
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond FNEEL 16,500 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun FREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 14,988 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRERE 2,983 3,700
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BERIHER

Independent non-executive directors B HHITEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIRLE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies7t &
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BAER L E

35,371 37,600
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11. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 1. EBEREEHITEME (&)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinUED)
Other emoluments
Hidi &
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees Hek RIKER Total
e Hip iz ATEIf T At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET AT FET
2015 20154
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond EXEEL 16,500 — - 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun FREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 14,988 1,512 — 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PRBEE 2,983 717 — 3,700
Mr. Kunihiko Kashima BEALERE
(resigned in April 2015) (201554 ABHE) — - - -
Non-executive directors FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ERAHE — — — —
Mr. Yoshio Haga FERELE
(resigned in April 2015) (R2015F4 ABHE) — — — -
Independent non-executive directors B EHITEE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE 299 — — 299
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst & 299 — — 299
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEK T E 299 — — 299
35,368 2,229 — 37,597

124

The executive directors', non-executive directors' and

independent non-executive directors' emoluments shown

above were mainly for their services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and

for their services as directors of the Company respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

11.

12.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’'S EMOLUMENTS (contivueD)

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chairman.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any

emoluments during these periods.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2015: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11.
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,

including directors, were as follows:

12.

 ESREREITEMS @)

FXRBEFASARRAERE - Lit
BEZMeBREFERTFMER
B IR 2 B o

HZE2016F &2015%F 12 A31H 1k
FE AEEBVEINE@HME T
EEERFHEEMALMAREH
BHREEPRRNE2ME - ZFH
M EmENEEREMNS

FuGRESMEAL

rEEZEMEzAMAL  HEe
(20154 : =1 ) BARAE
EHMESBER EMWEITHEE -
I EaMeAB(REES)ZE
e T

Salaries and other benefits e hEMER
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes & {18 |5 2 it 3%

The emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000

1,000,001 7% 1,500,000/ 7T
2,500,00178 7L %3,000,00078 7T
3,500,00178 7L %4,000,000/8 7T
16,000,001 7T % 16,500,000/ 7T

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR THET
40,855 40,762
36 36
40,798
BT AR
1
1
1
2
5
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13. DIVIDENDS 13.

2

Dividends recognised as distribution: REDKZBRE

Final dividend of HK$0.095 in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2015
(2015: final dividend of HK$0.075 in
respect of the year ended 31 December

2014) per share

3TEEFEZRBEE
FH%0.075%7T)

Interim dividend of HK$0.110 in respect of # Z=2016%F12 318 ILFfE
ZHEHREER0.11087T
(20154 : #E2015%12 A

the year ended 31 December 2016
(2015: interim dividend of HK$0.085 in
respect of the year ended 31 December
2015) per share

31TEEFEZHHER
FH%0.085% 7T)

HZE2015F 128318 L E
2 RHARE B #R%0.0958 T
(20154 : EE20145%12 A

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET
432,950 348,750
501,226 390,329
934,176 739,079

A final dividend of HK$0.110 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: final dividend of HK$0.095
per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

14.

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year of HK$2,862,743,000 (2015: HK$2,331,675,000)
and weighted average number of 4,569,900,468 (2015:
4,624,029,789) shares in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
both years.
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EFEEFREEZE2016F12 31
HEFERBARESROI110B T
(20154 : H#Z=2015F12A8318 1t
FERBRESGR0.0958L) « 1
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BRER

BERAMNDIARXEE AT
2,862,743,000 /& st ( 2015 4F
2,331,675,000% 70) R FNE 1T
% 15 4,569,900,468 I% (2015 4F
4,624,029,789% ) AEELTH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BMERKE

Furniture,
fixturesand Motor
Computer equipment Leasehold vehicles Plantand  Construction
Buildings system M BT improvements andyacht machinery inprogress Total
T EMRS  RERRE HENEEE  REREE  BERES EEIR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T Titn T T Fin T T
cost KA
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1 718 4,963,533 46,863 647,806 539,618 63,470 17,216,263 4,001,408 27,478,961
Exchange realignment ERERNAA (248,584) (2,029 (32,331) (26,088) (3,544) (865,447) (147,130) (1,325,153)
Additions HhE 191,648 " 6,473 652 7,536 122,251 2,520,964 2,849,535
Transfers e 409,748 — 214,608 11,258 — 1,778,558 (2,414172) —
Disposalsfwritten off e/ Wk - (676) (3,184) (120) (9,053) (23510) (13,854) (50,397)
At 31 December 2015 #2015% 124318 5,316,345 44,169 833,372 525,320 58,409 18,228,115 3,947,216 28,952,946
Exchange realignment EREHNAAR (401,448) (3,248) (57,841) (38,407) (5,374) (1,373,849) (201,769) (2,081,936)
Additions RE 71,523 545 44,369 3,861 70,550 186,030 3,595,375 3,972,253
Transfers ity 570,238 5431 85,848 9,365 11,607 1,154,762 (1,837,251) —
Transfer to investment BRERENE
properties (note 16) (F316) (378,429) — — — — — — (378,429)
Disposalsfwritten off e/ W - (332) (1,491) (775) (6,514) (89,523) (165) (98,800)
At 31 December 2016 20165 12A318 5,178,229 46,565 904,257 499,364 128,678 18,105,535 5,503,406 30,366,034
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2015 M2015E1 418 1,196,174 24,245 319,483 202,186 43,106 3,229,107 - 5,014,301
Exchange realignment EXEHAS (60,480) (317) (15,901) (10,052) (1,814) (163,906) - (252,470)
Provided for the year FREE 207,924 7197 56,733 26,260 9,301 550,320 — 857,735
Eliminated on disposals/ & /KB
written off Hi - - (2,846) (12) (6,015) (8,896) — (17,769)
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12A318 1,343,618 31,125 357,469 218,382 44,578 3,606,625 — 5,601,797
Exchange realignment  E X E3TAL (102,213) (825) (27,987) (16,521) (2,848) (277,588) - (427,982)
Provided for the year FREE 222,465 6,118 80,626 25,795 10,617 581,135 — 926,756
Transfer toinvestment ~ EEZRENE
properties (note 16) (HizE16) (2,764) - - - - - - (2,764)
Eliminated on disposals/ & /Hi B ¥ 44
written off — (290) (1,358) (295) (5,523) (36,532) — (43,998)
At 31 December 2016 20165124318 1,461,106 36,128 408,750 227,361 46,824 3,873,640 — 6,053,809
CARRYING VALUE EHE
At 31 December 2016 #2016F12A318 3,717,123 10,437 495,507 272,003 81,854 14,231,895 5,503,406 24,312,225
At 31 December 2015 R2015%12A318 3,972,727 13,044 475,903 306,938 13,831 14,621,490 3,947,216 23,351,149
BXGEHRAERAR 2016 £ 127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

128

notes:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report

The above buildings of the Group represent buildings on land under
medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on land in the PRC with
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2016, the carrying value of such buildings
was HK$1,172,652,000 (2015: HK$1,002,912,000). In the opinion of
directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course.

As disclosed in notes 32 and 36, certain portions of the buildings have
been leased to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as
investment properties as the leased portions are insignificant.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of lease, or 20 to 50 years
Computer system 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5%-15%
Motor vehicles and yacht 5%-20%

Plant and machinery 3'5%-20%

15. ¥ - MERKE#)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

btz AEERFHRTEPHEEL

Ho b2 BT o

SEEETEFERMARTEER
FXEARZFE L E - K2016
F12R8318 wEBFZEEE
A 1,172,652,000 % JT ( 2015 &
1,002,912,000/70) - EBER A KR
ZERBFIABERTTEEEEEM
EEFEE BAAEEEXNRBH
BEZEIMERAREZRERARRE
XEBENIEAmMEE LS =M
TEM EEFEEETARKRERE
BRFHZEFEFZEXEAE -

Mt EE32 R36FTH - BFEFE T E
DEMF—HEAL - ARAELHM
TRE ZEBFUIRIEREED
%o

BREZIRIN W% - BEREREE
N EFAGT RS EER - REFAIREY
LA E A FHRITE A MUE B AR - R
T

BF HERREE -

K20E 504
BIRS 10%
L EERE RS 20%
HEMEEE 5%-15%
B R R 5%-20%
EEE 3'5%-20%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REWEE

HK$'000
FHET
CcosT A
At 1 January 2016 201651 H1H —
Transfer from property, plant and EEAYE  BELKRE
equipment 375,665
Additions NE 2,995
Exchange realignment fEHEMAEE (4,753)
At 31 December 2016 20165 12H31H 373,907
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2016 201651 H1H —
Provided for the year FNEE 2,599
Exchange realignment fEHEMAEE (101)
At 31 December 2016 M2016F12H31H 2,498
CARRYING VALUE RREE
At 31 December 2016 M2016%F12A31H 371,409

At 31 December 2015

M2015%12A31H

During the year ended 31 December 2016, certain property,
plant and equipment situated in PRC with carrying amounts of
HK$375,665,000 was transferred to investment properties as
the management had changed the use of the properties.

The fair value of the Group's commercial properties at 31
December 2016 was HK$145,939,000 (31 December 2015:
nil). The fair value of the commercial properties has been
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EINEEEET
fhBR AT, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group, using the market comparable
approach, with reference to recent market prices for similar
properties in similar locations and conditions, where
appropriate.

REZE2016F12A31BILEFE - A
RERBOXEMERSE  KEEAE
A #375,665,0008 T 2 & TR
PE Y BERSBEERES
BEWE -

AEERNEEMER2016F12 A
318 27278 A145,939,0007% 7T
(20154F12 8318 : #) - HEY
¥ZARnERBEAEBEEEAZE .
BUAGEAREEGLBMEMNEES
EFFEARAR  BEmBLBREL
ZEUYERNEUMLE KRG (M
HA)ZEATBEREL ZGHES
Hj o
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

16.

130

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinueD)

The fair value of the Group's industrial properties at 31
December 2016 was HK$244,576,000 (31 December 2015:
nil). The fair value of the industrial properties has been arrived

at based on a valuation carried out by JF3I12E B & FE T H =
Fr(E@mAK), an independent qualified professional valuer

not connected with the Group, using the income capitalisation
approach by reference to the market rentals of all lettable
properties and capitalisation rate observed by the valuer for the
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based on the
valuer’s knowledge of the factors specific to the respective
properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report

16. BEWHE (&)

NEBHIEYWER2016F12 A
318 228 A244,576,0007% T
(2015412 H318 : ) - T¥EYE
Z/‘%@*E%Féﬁusﬁlﬁﬁaﬂmﬁ

AERBEMGEMRAIEREE
%{a%ﬁiﬁﬁ(aa_mf)\) b DA
2EWFRBEYERE A HEDZE
WhisHe REBEM2EMMNE
M EWREB G ERMEHEBEDER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Z Z2016412H31H 1L F/Z

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED) 16. REWHE (&)
Details of the Group's investment properties and information M2016F 12318 » KAE@MEEY
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016 are as EFABRARERB ZEBRERSH
follows: MR
Fair value Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Category hierarchy Fair value Carrying value Technique Key unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
<Y ARERE ME REE #ESR TETABREKE FAUBREBHAREZEE

2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT TAL TERL TAR

Commercial ~ Level 3 145,939 140,323 —  Market comparable  Transaction prices for similar  The higher the transaction prices
properties %38 approach properties after accounting for for similar properties, the
HENE LB floor areas and floor level - higher the fair value
Renminbi ("RMB") 67,040 per  BUMERHERMER - AR E
square meter fit=)
BUNFET REARERER
ZXHBR-EFFHRARY
(TARE])67,0407T
Industrial Level 3 244,576 231,086 —  Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate of 3% to 5% The higher the capitalisation
properties %38 approach BRMEERA3%ZE5% rate, the lower the fair value
TEM% WA EMekids - RrEsE
Monthly rent of RMB2.76 per The higher the monthly rent, the
square meter higher the fair value
BRELABTAK FRELHE  RAEES
ARH2.767C
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. FAWERAREE AL HEIR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuED) 16. REYZE(#)
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
The Group's investment properties REBREMEDIE
comprise:
Investment properties located in: WEMEMR
The PRC s 371,409 —
The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight- PR EMERERELESRERN
line basis at the following rates per annum: B FEQOT:
Buildings Over the shorter of the term ’BF HEHRREE -
of lease, or 20-50 years %20E504F
17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. BEHEERIE
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land AEEENHEERECETFRHEE
held under medium-term leases located in: IETZ%EE\:I:PMLLB/:\ :
2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The PRC e 846,861 696,543
Vietnam B 52,230 42,441

899,091 738,984

A

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HsERemiEZ 2

Non-current asset ERBEE 877,980 721,498
Current asset MEBEE 21,111 17,486

899,091 738,984
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (conTinuED)

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying value of land use rights
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal
title of ownership was HK$245,732,000 (2015:
HK$150,504,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use
rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the

Group in due course.

. ANHEER

M2016F 128310 EEAEE
FERBEEEZ T WFEAEZER
{& & 245,732,000 7T (2015 £ -
150,504,000 7L) - EER A/ R
hETHMFERAREABEEL TS
EESEEEMEEE BREAE
EEXNARTE»BEZE LHMER
BRERARBREXNES N
BmimkE e 2T H -
EZNHEETABREEGER
TRETHEREEAEBRE -

NI ()

18. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 18. BEYX  WMERKMEMS
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT H
The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the NI AEBRTHEERE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment for new MEBENDE  BERXEN
production facilities. The related commitments for acquisition T BEVE BELARBNEH
of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 33. APED M TE33MEE o
19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. EEERER
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET
Cost of an unlisted investment in REERE LR ETIRERA
joint venture _
Exchange realignment EREHES —
Share of profit and other comprehensive & {h 2 ) 1 H fth 2 T Y 25
income —
Loan to a joint venture (note ii) A& DEET (M) 95,953
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminuED) 19. &t
notes: Bt 5
(i) Details of the Group's joint venture and its subsidiary at the end of the (i)

134

reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture

Place of

Issued and

fully paid share capital/ Proportion of issued

RBERRAEEZ S

Frem )

E)I

10 3 e LB 28
NAFENAT ¢

and fully

and its subsidiary Form of incorporation and  registered capital paid up capital held by the Group
RELER entity operations BRARMERE/ FEBEEERTR Principal activity
EWBLRER 1.7 RYREESE HEfEE ARRALA ITER
Directly Indirectly
E% E% 3 3
2016 2015 2016 2015
% % % %
Joint venture:
RELE:
Southern Hill Company Limited Limited incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 50 —  Investment holding
BEERAR ARRANL Bl HRk-2%7 REER
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
AR ERAMBLA
HEEXRERLE Limited incorporated ~ The PRC Registered capital — 50 Provision of port facilties
(Ruichang Lee & Man ARAANL P - US$12,000,000 REEDRS
Logistics Company Limited) Falizv
—12,000,000%7C
(ii) The loan is provided to the joint venture in the form of a shareholder's (i) SEEE R AREEFT IR M RK

loan and it forms part of the net investment in the joint venture. The
amount is unsecured, interest-free and no fixed repayment term but the
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.
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ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

20. INVENTORIES 20. 7€

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Raw materials B 2,689,543 2,514,337
Finished goods 2K M 224,889 577,681

2,914,432 3,092,018

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. BWE 5 R H AR

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Trade receivables U E Z BRI 2,131,788 2,424,333
Less: allowance for doubtful debt o RIEEIREE (30,360) (5,476)

2,101,428 2,418,857
Bills receivables TEINE 1,511,703 1,104,250

3,613,131 3,523,107

Prepayments and deposits for purchase B& & REFEM KB NG &
of raw materials 687,653 613,687
Other deposits and prepayments Hih il € MBI FIE 50,594 67,040
Value-added tax receivables FE W 32 (8 5 1B 398,512 442,930
Other receivables Hh FE W SRIE 209,973 222,447

4,959,863 4,869,211
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuep)

136

notes:

(U]

(i)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer's credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date.

21. ERESZ R HEMER (&)

AEERERNERMAFTLR - SaFh%

BEEEFPNEREERATHEEER
B GEHERERTREECHREN
BEF  BEFPEERETHMTURS - A
SEETEPNTHEARHARASAE
90H - U T AMEMRRERAHZT
ZERWE S ERBEANRE DT

Aged: BREG
Not exceeding 30 days BiE30H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 12084 &

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTEx TET
3,210,017 2,602,159
293,645 709,137
57,991 148,794
PLR:VE] 12,497
25,605 50,520
3,613,131 3,523,107

Trade receivables of HK$3,553,164,000 (2015: HK$3,422,375,000) that
are neither past due nor impaired have good credit quality with reference
to the track record of these customers under internal assessment by the
Group.

As at 31 December 2016, the trade receivables of an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$326,323,000 (2015: HK$268,913,000) was secured by
customers prepaid lease payments and machinery being held as collateral.

Included in the Group's trade receivable balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$59,967,000 (2015: HK$100,732,000)
which were past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such balances
could be recovered based on the repayment history, the financial
conditions and the current credit worthiness of each customer, if any. The
directors consider all trade receivables (other than those for which
impairment losses have been recognised) at the end of the reporting date
are likely to be collectable under internal assessment by the Group.

(if)
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A #13,553,164,000 7 jT (2015 &
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Thl A HE B R ERE - EASR BRI
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BROEE -

M2016F12A31H - BKESERE
IEBRTE (E A $£326,323,000/8 7T (2015
F 1 268,913,000 L) HEFH A
TEN TSR IE RS BIK AR IERR -

AEEEKESEREHRTERERR

4 #£59,967,000 7 JT (2015 F -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contvuep) 21, BIRE B R HAbLRRNK (#)

notes: (Continued) BT« (48)
(i) (Continued) iy (%)

BHENRBENERE S RO KRR

Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not exceeding 30 days T HEiE30H 27,858 30,513
31-60 days 31—60H 14,817 18,017
61-90 days 61—90H 4,806 6,756
91-120 days 91—120H 3,149 2,745
Over 120 days 1208 A E 9,337 42,701
59,967 100,732

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RERBESD
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January »1A1H 5,476 5,476
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables  fEUE 5 BR 2R E BB TR 28,155 —
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables & & 5 B 3 & 518 1] 38 (3.271) —
At 31 December MW12A318 30,360 5,476

[l R AR B 7Y ) B ) T B AR SRR
EF R RN E ZRRIELRE -

The above allowance for doubtful debts are for individually impaired trade
receivables which have either been placed under liquidation or are in
severe financial difficulties.

WIAEBEBEERERBFENE
WHE 5 REMERTNT -

(iii) Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than (iii)
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
HK$ I 171,408 237,229
Us$ ETT 44,057 31,804
BERAR AR 2016 F£3) 137
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

22.

138

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED
COMPANIES

Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as

follows:

Balance at

31 December
2016
20165
12831048
HK$'000
FHT

Terms

%

Name of related company

BELFER

Unsecured and
non-interest
bearing

BERRLE

Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited
(“Jiangsu Chemical”) (note i)

TEEIBERAA
(II&ET ) (KEk)

Unsecured, and
non-interest
bearing

BERRER

Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing
Limited ("LMIML") (note i)
BYEXRERAA
(T EZ ) (Fkii)

The amounts due from related companies represent trade
balances due from Jiangsu Chemical and LMIML. The amounts
are unsecured, interest-free, with credit period of 45 days and
are aged less than 45 days.

notes:
(i) The company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

(ii) The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai
Ross who is also a daughter of Mr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick. Mr. Li King
Wai Ross is a director of the Company.

The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance
due to Jiangsu Chemical and LMIML. The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free, with average credit period of 30 days
and are aged less than 30 days.
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22. B () BEQTFRE

BREBEEBRREGRAE622G T IARK
B EWEEEATRBAOT
Balance at Maximum amount
1 January outstanding during

2016 ERRABREE
20165
1A1R&H 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR TR

& Uit 8 2% 2 B 3K
REXBEXENBHER -

BTy EWOT #R{E T
% EHHE
DEAR - 28 - WHEEH45E
KRl PR45A o

CEE

(i) FZRFARRBRLERBRFTER L
EESER RED -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED
COMPANIES (continuED)

The amounts due from (to) related companies that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

22. B () EE

N

N B FRIE ()

VHNBRASEERERERE
MR (1) BEE R B IRE SN T -

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx TR

Amounts due from related companies [ Ui B8 i& A 5] 3018
—HK$ — BT

4,637

23. MARGIN DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

Margin deposits represent deposits placed with financial
institutions to secure the Group's margin accounts with these
financial institutions for trading commodity future contracts.

The margin deposits are non-interest bearing.

Margin deposits and bank balances and cash that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

3. REEENRRITEHKE

&

RITHERLBACBREAEEFAN
BeMRIPAES=EALARND
2 HERITIER -

RESERDERREREBE T
R NERAEERUHFS M
BzZRESHRPAUETERBER
5 RESHFHRLEFE -

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
Euro (“EUR") BT ([T )

WHNEHEEERENEERHE
MREFESEFRARBITEHRRRSH
FIEAT

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx TAT

28,616 39,029

42,806 897,502

130 115
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. BNEZ RHEMERR
2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

Trade and bills payables ENE S REBEEMR 2,555,195 2,251,351

Construction fee payable B TRER 463,646 382,721

Accruals fEst & H 167,460 125,152

Receipt in advance B U FRIE 122,516 99,686

Other payables H th & 1< 5B 240,414 184,058

3,549,231 3,042,968
notes: BT -

(i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) BHHEE 2 THRERAHA30E1208 1
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables Fo TRANBREPRRBEZAHE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NEHNERERZREDHN -

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Aged: BRie

Not exceeding 30 days TiBiE30H 1,213,666 837,045
31-60 days 31-60H 603,054 512,816
61-90 days 61-90H 350,298 468,990
91-120 days 91-120H 370,937 409,687
Over 120 days 12084 & 17,240 22,813
2,555,195 2,251,351

(ii) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (ii) WIEN BB EB TR EEERE

the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NEBESREMBEZRNT :

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT T

EUR BT 318,119 368,379
Us$ e 1,737,267 1,802,867
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 Z Z2016412H31H 1L F/Z

25. BANK BORROWINGS 25. SR1TEE
The Group's bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEEZRTEE (2 AER
comprised: )8

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Bank loans RITER 12,566,561 13,571,484
Bank import loans RITEOE K 980,281 690,895

13,546,842 14,262,379

The bank borrowings are repayable RITEENERBNAT

as follows:
Within one year —F R 4,240,105 5,250,362
More than one year, but not BE—FEIRME

exceeding two years 866,445 2,179,155
More than two years, but not BBMEEINAEF

exceeding five years 8,440,292 6,832,862

13,546,842 14,262,379

Less: Amount due within one year B ARSI ARE B EY

shown under current liabilities — £ N B H R E (4,240,105) (5,250,362)
Amount due after one year — 1R T BHEIE 9,306,737 9,012,017
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25. BANK BORROWINGS (conminuEeD)

142

notes:

(U]

(i)

(iif)

Included in the balance as at 31 December 2016 are fixed-rate bank
borrowings of HK$134,831,000 (2015: HK$2,455,182,000) which carry
interest at rates ranging from 3.48% to 4.35% per annum (2015: 1.10%
t0 4.35% per annum).

All other bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from Hong
Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1.10% to HIBOR plus
2.29% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 1.10% to LIBOR
plus 1.25% (2015: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.70% to HIBOR plus 2.48%
or LIBOR plus 0.60% to LIBOR plus 0.80%) per annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group's bank
borrowings are as follows:

25. R1TEE &)

R2016F12A31HZEBBEE L
iR 17 1§ & 134,831,000 # st ( 2015
& :2,455,182,0008 7t ) + F B X
3.48% £4.35% (20154F : F B X
1.10%%E4.35%) °

AEHMRITEEY AZE - FEXA
EARTRAERE([BBBRITRER
B)M1.10%%E2.29% K mHIRITREZE
FE(MRBIRITAEFRS DM N0%E
1.25% (20154 : FHERITEZEHF LM
0.70%%E2.48% : imBIRITRENR L
HN0.60%ZE0.80%) °

REBRITEE 2 BRI = E T8
W

2015

Fixed-rate borrowings ELEE
Variable-rate borrowings ZEEE

2.81%
2.27%

HK$4,036,081,000 (2015: HK$2,455,195,000) in bank borrowings of
HK$4,240,105,000 (2015: HK$5,250,362,000) which are repayable
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses.

The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

(ii)

(iii)

— F AN B B4R 17 18 B 4,240,105,000
# 7T (20154 © 5,250,362,000% 7T )
B 4,036,081,000% T (20154 -
2,455,195,0008 L) B EERER 2

{ERK ©

VIAEREERRBNEEBHEZAR
SEBTEEMT

2015
HK$°000
TAT

us$
HK$

7T
AT

965,612
200,000

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)
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26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. pTHEEMT A
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Derivative financial assets TELRMEE
- net settlement - FERW
Foreign currency forward contracts INECRHAA 4
(note i) (PR &ED) 837
Agricultural commodity future contracts EEEREEASY
(note ii) (B &Eii) 695
1,532
Derivative financial liabilities fTEemaes
- net settlement —BRERXK
Foreign currency forward contracts SN IR BR A 49
(note i) (Bt =ED) 6,325
Agricultural commodity future contracts EEEREEAY
(note ii) (B &xii) 8,499
14,824
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26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. STHE SR IR (&)
(CONTINUED)
notes: MEFE
(0] Foreign currency forward contracts (i) SEEBEHD

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at

31 December 2016 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ]

M2016F 12 A3MBRTHEINEEHRE

Wz EBHERNOT

Currency conversion

B

6 contracts to buy EUR 2,660,000 in total
614 414 E 2,660,000 T

3 contracts to buy EUR 11,200,000 in total
3 &4+ E 11,200,00080 7T

14 contracts to buy US$47,359,000 in total
1413 & #1#£E47,359,000% T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at

31 December 2015 are as follows:

Notional amount

Lo ]

EUR 1 to HK$8.5350-8.6389
18 T3 8.5350-8.6389/5 7T
EUR 1to US$1.0610-1.0644
1T 41.0610-1.06443 7T
US$1 to HK$7.7474-7.7513
13EICH7.7474-7.7513/8 ¢

MR2015F 12 A3 BARAREINERBHEN 2 E

EFEFRMT ¢

Currency conversion

gEEn

10 contracts to buy EUR 28,838,745 in total
1013 & 4 E 28,838, 7458 7T

4 contracts to buy EUR 10,300,000 in total
A A% E10,300,0008 7T

15 contracts to buy US$88,513,065 in total
157 & #)3£E 88,513,065k T

3 contracts to buy RMB141,000,000 in total
3P E 4K E 141,000,000 A R

1 contract to buy RMB24,000,000 in total
113 & #1£E 24,000,000 AR

EUR 1 to HK$8.4730-8.6978

1B T .8.4730-8.6978E T
EUR 1to US$1.1138-1.1587
1T H1.1138-1.15873% ¢
US$1 to HK$7.7469-7.7494
13EJC3H7.7469-7.74947 7T
US$1 to RMB6.5944-6.6031
1367L46.5944-6.6031 AR
RMB1 to HK$1.1730
TARBER1.17308 T

& OBR|ERRZAMEA (20154 X
EA)REH -

The above contracts will mature within six months (2015: six months)
after the end of the reporting period.

ETAEERTRZ AR ETNRBERINE R
HEERAMZFRREREBHE -

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable
forward foreign exchange rates.
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4= =) =
26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. fTHEemIT A ®)

(CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued) Mzt : ()

(i)  Agricultural commodity future contracts (net settlement) (i) EREERBESHCRFERIW
The Group enters into corn starch future contacts in order to manage its REETZERBHBEEHNEEE
exposure to the price risk of corn starch inventories. These contracts are KBHFEZBRER - WESOTR
actively traded in an active market and are measured at fair values based EBRTISHER P RRBERRAKER
on unadjusted quoted price at the end of the reporting period, with gain BNBREZANENE  BBENERZHE
or loss recognised directly in profit or loss. BWER -
Major terms of the agricultural commodity future contracts outstanding HEMAATHERERRBAEEHZE
at the end of the reporting period are set out below: ZRFINT
31 December 2016 2016%12A31H

Standard
Contract price trading unit Total unit Maturity date
BHER BEXZEN WMERN FHA
Corn starch future contracts:
FARBHEEEL
Buying at prices ranging from 10 tonnes 800 17 May 2017
RMB1,798 to RMB1,812 per ton 1008 201745H17H

BAEBKREE1,798AREE1,812ARE

31 December 2015 2015%12H31H
Standard
Contract price trading unit Total unit Maturity date
ARER BEXZEN BB FMA
Corn starch future contracts:
FRBHEREL
Buying at prices ranging from 10 tonnes 6,257 From 16 May 2016 to 14 September 2016
RMB1,865 to RMB2,194 per ton 101§ 2016F5816HZE2016F9714H

BEAEREWE1,865ARKEZE2, 194 AR
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. BEXERIBEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised THRATEOHRELEHEBAER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: KNEER FEEZ#E o
Undistributed
earnings
Accelerated of the PRC
tax  subsidiaries
depreciation R B S
hn 3R B 18 AR Z Total
wE KOEEFR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TR
At 1 January 2015 M2015%12A18 775,669 4,145 779,814
Charge to profit or loss FFAEE 122,158 - 122,158
At 31 December 2015 M2015%F12A31H 897,827 4,145 901,972
Charge to profit or loss FFAEE 119,916 - 119,916
Exchange differences MEH (115,153) - (115,153)
At 31 December 2016 M2016%12A31H 902,590 4,145 906,735
notes:

146

0]

(ii)

At 31 December 2016, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$107,000,000 (2015: HK$38,000,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
such losses for both years due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
As at 31 December 2016, tax losses of approximately HK$21,000,000
(2015: HK$10,000,000) attributable to the PRC subsidiaries and
approximately HK$71,000,000 (2015: HK$24,000,000) attributable to the
Vietnam subsidiaries will expire at various dates up to and including 2021
(2015: 2020). As at 31 December 2016, tax loss of approximately
HK$15,000,000 (2015: HK$4,000,000) attributable to the Hong Kong
subsidiaries until expire at various dates up to and including 2023 (2015:
2022).

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out of profit
earned by entities established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards is
subject to withholding tax at 10%. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong and holding at least 25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a
preferential rate of 5% can be applied. The Group has not recognised
deferred tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of
some of its PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its subsidiaries
such that no withholding tax will be payable in the foreseeable future. As
at the end of the reporting period, the deferred tax liabilities in relation to
the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised were approximately HK$401 million
(2015: HK$351 million).

GEE
()

(if)
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M2016F 124318 » ANEBHKH
BETBAEERMNARRBTZBHEE
18 #) 107,000,000 7T (2015 4 :
38,000,000/ 7T ) o B R MEIE AR R
RABEFRA  MEAFELRRZES
BRARELEHREBEEE - R2016512
A318 » Bi&EE 421,000,000 7T
(20154 : 10,000,000 7T) K E H E
Fff /& X & & #971,000,000 % 7T (2015
4 124,000,000 7T ) K & HmEMHEA
Al BREZENBIE2021F (2015 -
20204 ) 2 Z AR B HAZIE} - %2016
F12H318 B EE 415,000,000
#7(2015% + 4,000,000 L) REH
BB AR EZWLEIE20234 (2015
F 20225 )2 Z @R BEARIE -

REBECEMEHIE - B2008F1/81H
HB o R E M E AR P
RS FIEIMEERE - BERFEME
10% - BB EMRZERFBERAHE
BL2S%ERMIGEE BREBERE
5% o AR EFAREANA A 05 6l &K
BRAETIRMN 2R - AR RAK
RASHRIBINR - WAEEEREF
EMEAREERD BT ERETH
HAME -  RREBEAR - RPEWMEAAF]
ADEBFEBEmMAERNECHIES
BEX R4.01EETT(20155 : K3.5118
BT .
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 28. BRIKBERIFHE
Defined contribution scheme REMKETE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$48,718,000 (2015: HK$54,208,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes. As at 31 December 2016,
contributions of HK$47,000 (2015: HK$47,000) due in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2016 had not been paid over
to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the end
of the reporting period.

REBEBBEAMBEERERR
SIERESEE - ZREESEE
WEEREAEENEESHATH -
LERBAGIABENES - A&
B 1,5008 ek B AFHKED
5% * UWBRIEEBE - AREDTE
T BEB ZHR—H -

A E Y WIS B —F (9
AT R R AR B R (43 -

TENEARREANEESZSEASD
BT 2 im0 B R B R R KR A
itEl - hEMEARAREES
METAEDL - FRKE NS H
FAERBEHNZA - REEHIRK
B BN -BEREFELETE

R -

MREZPHER 2B 148,718,000
7L (20154 : 54,208,000870) A
AEBIRFERTE 2T EHZ
LErEI 2 AR 0 R20165F12 A
318 » EE2016F12A318 1
FE B R B F47,000%
JL(20154F : 47,0008 7T) ° i E X
BEERSHARBESZM -

BGERER AT 2016 £ 147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

29.

148

SHARE CAPITAL 29. &R
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBERYE &5
Note HK$'000
it TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 2015 1H18 »
at 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 2015F12A318 Rk
and 31 December 2016 2016%F12A31H
F0.0258 TR L@k 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2015%1A18
at 1 January 2015 F0.0258 LR LB 4,670,000,000 116,750
Share repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt 88 (i) (91,000,000) (2,275)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2015F12A31H
at 31 December 2015 FRR0.025BTHEBR 4,579,000,000 114,475
Shares repurchased and cancelled AR &5 (i) (33,340,000) (833)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 2016%12A318
at 31 December 2016 FAR0.0258 LA & B 4,545,660,000 113,642
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L —
29. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 29. A (#)
note: BT
(i) The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RABRBERAEEE & 2RHNAT :
follows:
2016 20164
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRIXSERE expenses)
Month of E1%0.025%8 T Highest Lowest ArEARE
repurchases BE A% ZEBER BE RIK (BfEE)
HK$ HK$ HK$000
BT BT FER
January 2016 20165 1A 20,951,000 4.20 85,618
March 2016 201631 680,000 5.00 3,397
May 2016 2016554 770,000 5.00 3,859
December 2016 2016412 A 17,999,000 5.98 106,423
40,400,000 199,297
2015 20155
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each FRY B expenses)
FH%0.025%8 7T Highest Lowest ASEHBEMNRE
Month of repurchases 3@ 515 2 EER &= &K (BE8)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT I FA&T
March 2015 2015438 18,700,000 3.79 3.61 69,542
April 2015 2015444 1,300,000 3.82 3.82 5,051
June 2015 201546 A 10,440,000 4.96 4.73 51,135
July 2015 2015574 33,360,000 5.05 4.33 163,661
August 2015 201548 A 19,200,000 4.87 4.24 89,084
September 2015 2015497 6,500,000 4.42 3.80 26,509
December 2015 2015412 A3 1,500,000 4.24 4.19 6,355
91,000,000 411,337
The above shares were subsequently cancelled. Out of 40,400,000 FHBRHERBERETHE REZE
ordinary shares repurchased, 33,340,000 shares were cancelled during 2016412 A31 H IEF 40,400,000 8%
the year ended 31 December 2016 while the remaining 7,060,000 B[O LB E H 0 33,340,000 A% 15
ordinary shares were cancelled subsequently in January 2017. ERFARNETHE - Mk T 27,060,000

5B EE 2 E2017F 1 AL ©
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30. EXREEE

AEBERHEEANERAEEDN
ERUFELEEY  WEBKE
BEHEERL I RERTE ARRH
REOE - AEENEBBRRERS
HEEF—H-

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

AEENERAGEBRRBER  EF
BRETEEARARAEDRFA
ANEh#EZ(BREETRARZ A

various reserves. ) °

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings, and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

ARBEETHRTENERE - 1F
BNy EEHEEEN
AR BERERNBBORER
REESENEZ  AKESBBIK
MR ~ BT B LA A
BOHEXERRETEEERE

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the

issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. IREERE -
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 @ T A
(i) Categoriesof financial instruments (i) &EMIAEH

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets tRMEE
Fair value through profit or loss — BAREFABE—
derivative financial instruments PTESMTA 231 1,532
Loans and receivables (including cash BN El IR
and cash equivalents) (BIERELRSZEEY) 5,216,434 6,830,433
Financial liabilities Ed =L
Fair value through profit or loss — BERARERABZE—
derivative financial instruments TESRMIA 11,267 14,824
Amortised cost HIHRCR 16,810,385 17,084,361
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31. @M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to
a joint venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from (to) related companies, derivative financial
instruments, margin deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, and bank borrowings. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and commodity price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(a)  Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.

BERAR AR 2016 F3R]

AEENTZERTABREA
BEEER EBUREZREM
BRAR - BU(Y) BEE 2 AR
BHTEeRMIE  RESF
R ROTERRES  ENE
FREMERLRITEE -
BT R R I8 AR B M R
B-HEZFRITAABANA
pEETSAR(EYER -
MEERBRIEAREBRR)
EFERRERBESRR - 41
fA] & M 5% 55 2 B 1) R SR # 51) 4n
ToEEEEENEREZETA
B DAREAR I B B RO R A @
B o

mis R B

(a) E¥ERE
AEBHFENERS + 2
REEBRTHNEE R B
BSOS ER - BT
PRAKSNE BB - AN @B
HEFERINERZ HET LI
MERHER - - EEEBR
PERHEMINERR - I
EERVERBERY T
Ao
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. €M T A#&)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miZRER (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group's significant REBRIHRE B I FELAE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding HMEEERNEEEE
intercompany balances and derivative financial ZEEEHEEREKA
instruments, that are denominated in currencies BE(RIARAERRITE
other than the functional currency of the relevant TR I AR MWEREE
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows: s
Monetary assets (note): B EE(ME)
2016 2015
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
HKS BT 201,623 280,895
uss$ ETT 86,863 929,306
EUR BT 130 115
Monetary liabilities (note): BE¥aEME)
2016 2015
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ AT = 200,000
Us$ ETT 1,737,267 2,768,479
EUR B 318,119 368,379
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the MisE : LS ZEARBIEHRBEER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ BRINGEEKAZT, /B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of THE T, ETEE B
which the exchange exposure is not significant. RETEIEITTES - At

I 4% 55 RO SR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31. @I A %)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) MR (&)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EMmEpF(E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in AN - AINEEEHE 2 ED
foreign currencies are as follows: NEEREHRINT -

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&ET
Assets BE
us$ ET 429,473 631,760
HK$ BT 132,586 89,190
RMB AR 354,777 288,485
EUR BT, 285,409 98,294
Liabilities =R
uss$ ET 429,473 631,760
HK$ BT 583,952 601,767
RMB AR 991,910 1,454,909
EUR BL T 285,409 98,294
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AEEFEMHBMTALB
EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB. T B T RETLHAR

BNEBTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

31. EM I BE#)

B EREEENWRBE

(ii)

(#)

EE1EAC-P)

(a)  Currency risk (Continued) (a) EEREE(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRRED I (E)
The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to T3R5l N 5 B 7 N A

a 5% (2015: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2015: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On
this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit and equity where the functional
currency of the relevant group entities strengthens

FREBEIERT - HESE
EEB s NEEERH
EEEINE EA R T#5%
(20154 : 5% ) K 8L
J€ © 5% (20154 : 5%)
BERNRETEERAGE
e HNES R B B AR A BRR
ELE - BERERING
[ERM AR RERENE D
BT - MEESTRE
FELINETENRENE
¥IEE (BENIINEEE
ZREBARAER) - AR
HERRAEHRE - UK
BRGNS FE R ) 5% B o
UM EET - ZiEEE
EEE N ER L INE

THES% » R &R R
wmRE I, B RZ TR

against the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice

versa.
(Decrease) increase Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit in equity
REBFED(EM) REREMORL)
2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET THET FHET
HK$ BT (10,317) (3,377) 20,962
us$ ET 79,300 114,300 31 29
RMB AREE 44,714 72,564 (14,812) (12,044)
EUR BT 15,797 18,293 214

154 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

All foreign currency forward contracts in note 26
are to hedge the rise of EUR against HK$ & US$
and the rise of US$ against HK$ in both years and
are to hedge the rise of RMB against HK$ & US$ in
2015 (2016: nil).

The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2015: 5%) strengthening or weakening on
the foreign currencies and all other variables were
held constant. As HK$ is pegged to the US$, the
Group's currency risk related to the above HK$/US$
derivative financial instruments is expected to be
minimal.

31. EM I BE#)

(ii)

2016

Strengthening

by 5% leading

to increase in

post-tax profit

HES%EH

BEBFEm

HK$'000

TET

BT 15,506
N -

EUR
RMB

15,506

Weakening
by 5% leading
to decrease in
post-tax profit

BES%EH
REBFRD
HK$'000
TR
(15,510)

(15,510)

BERAR AR 2016 F3R]

BREREERNREE

(&)

EE1EAE )

(a)

Strengthening
by 5% leading
to increase in

ExmER(E)
BRRE DT (&)
MAMFE26 2 T B INE
REEHDEAMEFE
Z BT R B IL&ET L
RETHBTLEA UK
2015 F $ b AR 75
TL&EITL LA (20164 :
m) o

TRFMANEBEINEF
EREZE5% (20154 ¢
5% ) RE - WHER
FiBE B EHRFTE -
BHAABTEETE S - K
EEBEHEABET,ET
TESMIAERBZEE
0 B2 AR KK, o

2015
Weakening
by 5% leading
to decrease in

post-tax profit post-tax profit
THES%EH  WRES%EH!
BEAMEM  HREAMED
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
16,600 (16,594)

9,727 (9,330)

26,327 (25,924)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31. @M I A #)

156

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREEBNRBEEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) M EE (&)
(b) Interest rate risk (b) FI = Bz
The Group's bank balances carry floating-rate of REBRITHERTER

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2016 Annual Report

interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from
bank balances are insignificant.

The Group's fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the

BRBRITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
KR o R - ARER
RRIRITHEB IR AR
By - BYERITAERSIRE
R PSR h =R B
R RE

AEEZARERRSR
ENEREBRERDHIEE
BRFEMEEAR - A%
[ 3 48 R] S2ALAA) ) =K 0
AR ERBRITEER
FERIBEIZE - TAEAR
FEARA AN s B
xR - BEEEEA
XEBiEElEARRS
EREMERNF KR

B -

BRED T

TR S RE DT RER
BEMARIFETET RN
KREBRETE © L7 EIRIT
e ERFEELIH
BRI RS - 2R
BERBEHRKENEE

amount of liability outstanding at the end of the REFHAEKREN MR
reporting period was outstanding for the whole Bl o F = 1 H0 sk R 450
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in A BHAREZEEEA

interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

5 I 3R ) 2 R B R A 1
REELE  BEEER
R & R AT B R B 03T
fi5 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(©

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$13,412,011,000 (2015: HK$11,807,197,000),
if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2016 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate of 3.3% (2015: 3.3%) would
decrease/increase by HK$28,856,000 (2015:
decrease/increase by HK$26,783,000).

Commodity price risk
At 31 December 2016, the Group was exposed to
commodity price risk through agricultural

commodity future contracts.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is exposed to the fluctuation of
commodity price risk of agricultural commodity
future contracts at the end of reporting period. If
the commodity price risk of agricultural commodity
future contracts had been 5% higher/lower, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would increase/
decrease by HK$629,000 (2015: HK$5,204,000).

(ii)

1. EmIAE)

BREREERNREE

(&)

EE1EAE )

(b)

(c)

T &= = bz (48 )
BRRE DI (&)

B A #013,412,011,000
% ot (2015 4
11,807,197,000 & 7T )
ZEBRITEBEEMmMS -
fi F| & £ F T % 50
B2 mAAEMEH
BRETE  rXEEHEHZE
2016 F 12 H31 B IE %
£ BB 18 8 F &5 & A
&AL FIE3.3% (2015
F33%)tEZER
fLEEXAE - R
/1 128,856,000 & 7T
(20154 : @ /8
26,783,000 7)) °

B o (B 15 B B
M2016%F12A318 » &
EEERREERBES
AEZEmERRERE -

BRRE DT

RE|EBRR - AEE A
XREBMBESNZ
HmEREERR - BRE
EEBMHEaN B

B EH/TH’5% - K
SEAFEZRERTE
#0584 629,0007% 7T
(20154 : 5,204,000 %
JT) e
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

158

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2016, the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In making such assessments, the Group
considers the value of collateral held and expected future
cash flows from the assets. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are
banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group's concentration of credit risk is
considered minimal.

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group's involvement in the
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position
to monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan
to joint venture is low.

31. M I A (#)

(ii)
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PSR EE B RBE
(%)

B e
MR2016F12A31H A& H
EHF AT AREBITETMER
BB EERBRKE
FEMBRAREINETER
BREMEENEREEE -

REEREEERR  AKHE
EEECEZE-HABEER
ER#E FEEHUAREME
TR o MR LA DA BB
REERAETTE) LI - AR H
EEEERBEHIRENEE
FIEB AT @SR - AR
B A W Bl & BE HE R R S0 ORU(E
BR - EFH AR - ARH
SERBAFEA R EBERZ
EEERPARKRASRE - 5l
It EEZRAAEEZEER
BE R

MR P THREEFRRE
ZRIT - BMRBEERITES
BMTAZEERRBRAER -

AEEMEREESEREBEX
BEP  BEZETERME
B o Fitt - AEESTEER
2\ B AR AEK. o

BRTEEZEBNEERR
S REBRABEELRER L
FHEETEERR RA/ALE
E2EAZMENEE XK
BERETEMBRANULE
WA B R KT ARERLE
Ek/SREEE - Bt &
BEEMAGEAKEELRTAZD
XEFSIENEERRBE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31. @M I A #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2016, the Group
has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$11,094,000,000 (2015: HK$8,893,000,000). Details

of bank borrowings are set out in note 25.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

BGERER AR 2016 F£3R

(&)

MEE SRR
SERRBESARME @ A
SEERLRFEAEREAS
AEEEERMESD - AR
BRSRENDFEZRER
ReEBEYKE BEEEBESR
RITEEZBRALBRETE
e

REBEBRBRBTEEREE
MBE KR - R2016F 12
A318 » XEBEKREFH 2 RT
ZERE4411,094,000,000
T (20154 :8,893,000,000
BIT) o IRITEEF B EH N
F£25

TR FF AR BR A 1 TE IR BRI
rEBEcHBENGTELHE
HH- -BETELBHAEM
T TRIIBEBEAEBEEER
EFHBMEA BB ERR
REEMEEL - AEME -
B 75 FE SRR B R 2 SRIT 18
E GERCRERRZA -
THRTEDEETEHERE
o HMIETEERMAREZE
HERERTHWERB B
B TREBEMNEERRESE
eRE EREREL FIE
MEFEHMNE  RERSER
BMERARNFEHE -

159
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31 TEMTR#)
(i) MHEREEENHRBE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

160

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following tables detail the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group's
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of

(%)

MEBE SRR (E)

Fo o TRFLREEITES
BMITEZREBEDNT - ZRTY
REBRFEEENITET AN
ARFBREHFREREIR -
i A FRIB T E - BIPTIK R
RIATI2 RN | E KRBT
Ty &5 i AR PR TRORI A X
o AEBRESOIMB R
BUEeRmIAENRDED
- AERERREXEIHA
DNTHMOTETAERS R ZFKHE
MERRR -

derivatives.
Liquidity tables MEE &K
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2016
ESi8:) 20165
ERNE EEREXD ReRE 12A318
ik S37) 4 SR1{EA 1238 3EAZE1E 1255 Eh ZEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARkl TR TEL TER TERT TERT TER
31 December 2016 2016%12A31A
Non-derivative financial 3 #i4£&BEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B Z 5 R E i8R 1,880,956 636,970 741,329 3,259,255 3,259,255
Amounts due torelated  FE BIE A BIFUR
companies 4,288 4,288 4,288
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable-rate -%8 4,039,909 — 69,996 9,945,643 14,055,548 13,412,011
- fixed-rate -E8 - 101,582 34,331 - 135,913 134,831
5,925,153 738,552 845,656 9,945,643 17,455,004 16,810,385
Derivatives FfETR
- net settlement -RERR
Foreign exchange forward ~ 9hMEEiREFA 4]
contracts
Agricultural commodity  E¥EREEAH

future contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 31. T A #®)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TENE DK (&)

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2015
it 2015%
ERFE  EERERS ReRE 128318
MEFHH DR1E R 1238 3f@RE1E 125 At A
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAL FAL TAL TAT FAL FAL FAT
31 December 2015 2015%12A31A
Non-derivative financial {74 ¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BN Z 5 L E b8 — 1,403,824 981,806 432,500 — 2,818,130 2,818,130
Amount due to related ERBERRNE
companies — 3,852 — — — 3,852 3,852
Bank borrowings RTEE
- variable-rate -38 227 2,586,192 — 214,358 9,557,626 12,358,176 11,807,197
- fixed-rate -8 2.81 1,620,026 - 848,818 - 2,468,844 2,455,182
5,613,894 981,806 1,495,676 9,557,626 17,649,002 17,084,361
Derivatives fTEIE
- net settlement -FERN
Foreign exchange forward ~ SMERHIA 4)
contracts — 983 4,067 1,275 — 6,325 6,325
Agricultural commodity  BEEH
future contracts Hean — — — 8,499 — 8,499 8,499
983 4,067 9,774 — 14,824 14,824
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

31. EM I BE#)

(i) BERREEBNREE

162

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31 December 2016 and 2015, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans
amounted to HK$4,036,081,000 and HK$2,455,195,000
respectively. Taking into account the Group's financial
position, the directors do not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such bank loans will be repaid after the reporting date in
accordance with the following scheduled repayment

dates set out in the loan agreements:

Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause

(&)

MENE Rk (&)
HEBE2X(E)

B 75 FE ZE KB R IE R 2 R
TEER M EBASW
FATEZRKERSK DR
8 A1z E8E - R2016 F &
20154 12 A318 » &R
TERZIATEARSLED
B %A 4,036,081,000 & 7T &
2,455,195,0003 7T © £ & 3
REBZHMBMRR  ESHAE
B RITPKRATEITEBNE
B BRAEENRER =
EHE - RFROTEBEEERE
WEBBHcERBEERBEMR
HMEERBHEERAT

based on scheduled repayments: IR H BT E 8 5
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year cash flows amount
BERFIE 3f8A TR
T SMMER 123188 215 ReREsst SREE
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Bt TET TET TERT TERT TERT
As at 31 December 2016 H2016F12A318 1.81 3,499,072 477,825 67,753 4,044,650 4,036,081
As at 31 December 2015 M2015F12A318 1.87 1,947,440 363,097 152,067 2,462,604 2,455,195
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 31.
(iii) Fair value

Fair value measurements recognised in the RUBRARERZ AR EET

statement of financial position

fein

This note provides information about how the Group

determines fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities.

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial

liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each

reporting period. The following table gives information

about how the fair values of these financial assets and

financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the

valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

A B 5 42 ¢4 o B 40 T B T
ReMEERSBABALE
ZEH -

AEERLTREERTARA
BEREHREHRRAAET
B TREHNAUEEZSF S
MEERETRABEAAENE
BOLEGBATARMAERZ
i) °

Financial assets/ 31 December 2016  Fair value Valuation techniques

financial liabilities 7A2016512H31H hierarchy and key inputs

EREE SRAE ZRRE A REHH REFXREEXE

Foreign currency forward contracts  Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as derivative financial HK$231,000 FE2H are estimated based on the
instruments in the consolidated  Liabilities — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position HK$11,152,000 exchange rates

INEEEIE NG E TR R BE— RRITERIR @M E JE N E
DER/TESRIA 231,000/ 7T RINE ZHEEGLE

afE-
11,152,000/ 7T

Agricultural commodity future Liabilities — Level 1 Quoted bid commodity
contracts classified as derivative HK$115,000 F1R future prices on the Dalian
financial instruments in the afE— Commaodity Exchange
consolidated statement of 115,000/ 7T RARERE MR S PTIRIERE

financial position
BB mBAEEHNRES I
MERDBEH/TETHIEA

BGERER AR 2016 F£3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. BRI EE)

(iii) D REE)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep)

(iii) Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position (Continued)

Fair value as at

R BIRRKRER 2 A A ER

B(#&)

Financial assets/ 31 December 2015 Fair value Valuation techniques
financial liabilities 7201512 H31H hierarchy and key inputs
CRMEE eRMBEE AN =] ARrERR HESTAREZKE
Foreign currency forward contracts Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as derivative financial HK$837,000 FE2M are estimated based on the
instruments in the consolidated  Liabilities — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position HK$6,325,000 exchange rates
INERERE HRERa ISR R BE— AR @M E JE N E
DER/TESRIA 837,000/ 7T RINEEHEERE
aE-
6,325,000/ 7T
Agricultural commodity future Assets — Level 1 Quoted bid commodity
contracts classified as derivative HK$695,000 F1R future prices on the Dalian
financial instruments in the Liabilities — Commodity Exchange
consolidated statement of HK$8,499,000 RAREE MR 5 R mE
financial position BE— LA mEEERE
BERMBAESHRGEETEIK 695,000/ 7T
MERDBEH/TETHIEA BE-
8,499,000/ 7T
The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERENEEVMBRESHEE
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost FemaBEREENAE2RCER
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to BREEQRE-

their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. M I A #)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTAFHELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELUHBRET 228/
netting agreements and similar EERERARE
agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below include THREFEBENAINITEFE
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to HEZHIEURREE N 2&
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar BEEREZBAR WEX
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, ZEem I A THEESR
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group's ERAEEGZEE MBI RY
consolidated statement of financial position. i o
Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable FHE  ATRTRFEAER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements ERBEUHBET 2 2mEE
As at 31 December 2016 720165F12H31H

Gross amount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial

financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
finandal finandial PERGEHBRRR
Gross amounts position position HEzHRLE
of recognised iy -1 R4 Cash collateral
financialassets  BifftRE  BERRR Financial received Net
BRASH HELERR 252 instruments BlRE amount
Description RE BEAE CHABEE SMEERE fTESmIA i et

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TER TEn TER TER TER TER

Bank balances /e 11,983 - 11,983 - - 11,983

Margin deposits RESHER 1,450 1,450 1,335

Derivative ITEeREE
financial assets
-Foreign currency  —SNEEHAL
forward contracts
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

eI R

(iv) F8#E  THTRFEEE
ZHREMUBRET 228
EEREBMAE#E

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 31.

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting agreements and similar
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable

HHE FIRMITERREEY
master netting arrangements and similar agreements =

BERBOmEET 2 RAE

As at 31 December 2016 M2016%F12H831H

Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised liabilities
financial assets presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial financial PERGEHBRRR
of recognised position position Bz RREE
financial i) i) Cash collateral
liabilities BBRRR BERRE Financial received Net
BRASH HECEER 252 instruments 2B amount
Description BE EEE SHEESE SRAETE fi4eRIR i b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TiEx T TAR TAn TAn
Derivative XA
financial liabilities
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEERERAL
forward contracts 11,152 11,152 11,152
- Agricultural -REEaHE
commodity future A4
contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) 588 THITERFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable Y AIRMITRFREER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements RBEUHZBET 22mEE
As at 31 December 2015 72015%12H31H

(Gross amount Net amounts

of recognised of financial
financial assets
ligbilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial TENGRHBIRAE
Gross amounts position position Y AR
of recognised JiNoTe) JiNGYe) Cash collateral
financial assets BIERRE BIMAR Finandial received Net
BRRcR HE/EER 27 instruments s amount
Description BE BEE  CREEDE SRAETE  (TESRIA B 8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TR TR TR AT AL

Bank balances R 460 — 460 — — 460
Margin deposits RESED 10,391 - 10,391 (7,804) — 2,587
Derivative TEEREE

financial assets
~Foreigncurrency  —SMEEHAL

forward contracts 837 — 837 — — 837
- Agricultural -REBRHE

commodity &

future contracts 695 - 695 (695) — -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 31. T A #®)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable Y AIRMITRFREER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements ERBEUHZET 22MAR
As at 31 December 2015 201556128318
Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised ligbilities
financial assets presented
setoff in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated ~ consolidated  in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial TENGRHBIRAE
Gross amounts position position Y AR
of recognised JiNoTe) JiNGTe) Cash collateral
financial liabilities BIRRE BIMAR Financial received Net
BRRcR HE/EER 27 instruments BYES amount
Description BE BELE SREEDE SRBETE TERRIA B 8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TR TR TR AT AL

Derivative TEERERE
financial liabilities
~Foreign currency  —SMEEHAL

forward contracts 6,325 — 6,325 - - 6,325
- Agricultural -REAREE

commodity &4

future contracts 8,499 - 8,499 (695) (7,804) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

32. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,

which fall due as follows:

32. EEMEY

SEEREBA

RE|BER - NERERE A B
M REFREEHEONBEREN
W& ERSOT

Within one year —FRA
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERAFA
Over five years iR F

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TETT
9,123 5,658
7,455 5,460
= 92
16,578 11,210

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for staff quarters and certain of its office properties. For
staff quarters and office properties, leases are negotiated for
terms ranged from 1 year to 3 years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2016, rental income in
respect of industrial properties, office spaces, certain shops and
staff quarters and plant and machinery in the PRC was
HK$7,505,000 (2015: HK$5,488,000), net of negligible

outgoings. Leases are within one to nine years.

el AKREARE IR RE
ETMAZMERSNNEES - BT
BeRMAEYECHEEREH —
FRZF HNELTE

SEESHBEA

MNEZE2016F12 8318 I E -
ERAPEMNIEME  WRAE A
THBMEIFBS R&E RS
MHESWA (BB TRE 2R
<) /47,505,000 7T (2015 4 :
5,488,000 L) HA KRB —ZEN
FA e
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

32.

33.

34.

170

OPERATING LEASES (conTinuED)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted

with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

32. MWEHRN (&)
SEERHBAE)
EARREHRR  ARECHBFF
FIRBREMNNKERES R

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$"000
FEx TR

17,119 5,108
87,449 6,624
118,848 —

223,416 11,732

Within one year —FR"

In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERAFA
After five years iR F
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

33. EARKIE

2016 2015
HK$"000 HK$'000
FTEx TR

Capital expenditures contracted for PEETHERNERE M ERER S
but not provided in the consolidated BEAETEEMNEARFS

financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:

— property, plant and equipment — W - BE KB
—land use rights — T b A

2,164,178 2,568,754
137,858 180,981

2,302,036 2,749,735

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$210,175,000 (2015: HK$45,204,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

35. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. RATB IR FR
THE COMPANY

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company RARP20164F K 2015512 A 31
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 is as follows: BzW iR ZaanT -
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B A ERE 637,977 637,977
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN 9,966,720 9,661,290
Tax recoverable B Ug [B1 %7 18 = 825
Bank balances RITHEER 4,593 4,556
9,971,313 9,666,671
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables R A1 L At BR 3R (WEY) 5,756
Amount due to a subsidiary FERTH B A R EIE 5,844,044 —
Bank borrowings RITHEE 19,193 223,982
5,869,974 229,738
Net current assets MBEEFE 4,101,339 9,436,933
Total assets less current liabilities BELERRBAG 4,739,316 10,074,910
Non-current liability FREBAE
Bank borrowings RITIEE 379,166 5,531,020

4,360,150 4,543,890
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

35. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. KRB BEARR IR (&)
THE COMPANY (conTivuED)

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FET
Share capital R& A 113,642 114,475
Reserves B 4,246,508 4,429,415
Total equity AR 4,360,150 4,543,890
note: Bk
(i) Movements in reserves (i) R
Share
Share Contributed Retained repurchase Total
premium surplus profits reserve reserve
[grapinti] ERRN% BERN  ROBEEE BEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2015 R2015F1 718 4,364,916 634,977 56,986 — 5,056,879
Shares repurchased and A% {7 B& 0] K 3+ 8
cancelled (409,062) — — — (409,062)
Profit for the year FEREF — — 520,677 — 520,677
Dividends recognised as TR AN IR 2 % B,
distributions (390,329) —_ (348,750) — (739,079)
At 31 December 2015 72015912 A318 3,565,525 634,977 228,913 — 4,429,415
Shares repurchased and A& B& @ 12 3184
cancelled (156,342) — — — (156,342)
Shares repurchased and %17 B G118 14 K £ 84
yet to be cancelled — — — (42,122) (42,122)
Profit for the year FEERF — — 949,733 — 949,733
Dividends recognised as R AN IR ZHEE
distributions — — (934,176) — (934,176)
At 31 December 2016 20165 12A31H 3,409,183 634,977 244,470 (42,122) 4,246,508
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference KRB ZEHBHRTIARRNEFEH2003
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by FOAZEBEMAMBEZHERARZ
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in September 2003 and BREEFERLBERRGGHRZWEM
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition. BITZRAmBE =58 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

36. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 36. HEAKRBEEBEALTIKE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FN - AEEEEBRAT(ETAL
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be 7R (R AR B T AR BN AR AR VE R
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant AT)VHETERRS - FREZFA
transactions with these parties during the year are as follows: THETHNERR AT
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) rEEREEALTRS
2016 2015
Name of parties Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALEE XHHE THET TET
LMIML (as defined in note 22) Finished goods sold by the Group
BYEX(ERAMT22) EEHEHNM 78,989 54,890
Electricity and steam fee received
by the Group
SECRERRENER 2,770 2,748
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SERERH 617 742
Other materials purchased
by the Group
EEBEHMME 1,297 1,038
Lee & Man Paper Products Company Licence fee expenses incurred
Limited (note i) by the Group
BYXRmAR AR (M) SEFAEEI N 1,780
Jiangsu Chemical (as defined in note 22) Electricity and steam fee received
IHET(EERME22) by the Group
SEERERRENER 65,165 73,231
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEBERM 15,806 13,993
Rental income of office spaces
MAZESHRA 1,774 1,884
Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited (note i) Electricity and steam fee paid
IREECIAR A (Hai) by the Group
SEENEERERRKE 38,265
Prepaid lease payments disposed of
by the Group
EEHERENHERE 8,245
Rental fee paid by the Group
SECAHES 3,039
Nippon Paper Industries Co. Ltd. (note iii) Technical assistance fee expenses
B 7S 2 (Fff 3 incurred by the Group
SERMEREX L 1,658
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

36. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 36. HEAKRBEEALHEE &)
DISCLOSURES (conminuep)
(i) Related and connected party transactions () HERBEALXRZ(E)
(Continued)
notes: M 5T
(i) The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li (i FZRBNRFBE TR EZERBRIT
King Wai Ross who is also a daughter of Mr. Lee Wan Keung AARA SRR R T ER T
Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. RZRRMEZERE - FRE
Li King Wai Ross is a director of the Company. FERRNRARESE -
(i)  The company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee Wan (i)  BARRAAARBERRESE
Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the EREABAER R -
Company.
(i) The company is a former substantial shareholder of the Company, (i) ZARBARBEAEERR - H
which disposed of all shares held during the year ended 31 EREE2015F12A318 IEF
December 2015. EHEBAFRG -
(ii) Related and connected party balances (i) HERBEALEAR
Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related RNEBEEBEATREIAEH
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in BALTZKREEEHRFRBDH
the consolidated statement of financial position and note 5 R AR & BB AR O & BB A
22. 22
(iii) Compensation of key management (i) TREEEREHMH
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EEhHEMIBEEEERER
key management during the year were as follows: FAZMERAT :

2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&T FABT

Short-term benefits 5 EE A 40,855 40,762
Post-employment benefits RAKIE F 36 36

40,798
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHRRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2016 Z Z2016412H31H 1L F/Z

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. KABEEMEB R AFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December AAREEZMBERAINR2016F &
2016 and 2015 are as follows: 2015F12 A3 EMEBOT ¢

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries HREL/RY/ BRTRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
HEARER BEREELY EMER ARRfHEEEELA TERH
Directly Indirectly
23 G5
2015
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note ) Ordinary shares - US$4 - Investment holding
EERLES (W) LRk-4axn RER
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share - US$1 100% Investment holding
HERES (W) LER-1ET RERR
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100% Investment holding
MEBRAT I LRk-2%En RER
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore)  Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of raw
Trading Limited &R RF%100,0007 materials
HIE (RFBREERE) RERH
B5ERAT
RERCESRARR AR The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper P& (i) - US§156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co. Lid)) SRR 156,480,000 BUEERES
BRECESARAR The PRC (note i Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man RG] - US$680,000,000 trading of paper
Paper Manufacturing Limited) FHAE R —680,000,0005% T FELERES
TEECEABRAR The PRC (note if Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(liangsu Lee & Man Paper P& (Hisi) - 5§393,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) A% -393,000,000%7T RELERES
EFEESERAA The PRC (note i Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man Paper P& (i) - US§420,260,000 trading of paper and
Manufacturing Limited) A A -420,260,000% 7T pulp
FERAREERES
TEEEAERARA The PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper e (FiE) - US§100,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AR —-100,000,000% 7 RALERES
BEENELRRLERRAR The PRC (note ii) Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man Tissue E (fiEE) - US$425,000,000 trading of tissue
Manufacturing Limited) AR -425,000,000% 7T products
EEBEREERES
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing  Vietnam Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and
Limited HE - US$300,000,000 trading of paper
FEA-300,000,000% 7T FAEERES
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2016 £ Z2016F 12 H31HIFF/Z

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. KRB EEMBRARFE (&)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

notes: B EE

(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) RERNREBRBEE -

(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAREPEXNLZIEREDR
PRC. E

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINLEBEERAETEFELRE

the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or EXENEEREAENARRDTMNE

assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NAl - BEFRA HNLEMKEBA

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AMFBEFEANTBERTER

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERIFAEMER - SHBAQ
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. A EARREENEBES
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